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Chairman’s Statement
EERE

To: Our Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual report of In Construction
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively “The Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024
(the “Financial Year 2023/24").

[ts now more than 1 year since the end of the COVID-19
pandemic and Hong Kong's economy is recovering albeit
slowly. During this year, we have been awarded several
sizeable foundation work projects which are now in full
swing. Though tender prices over the past few years have
gradually increased, margins remain tight.

Our Group aims at creating both economic and sustainable
value to our customers. We continue to serve Hong Kong's
building and construction industries by offering quality and
flexible solutions to our customers. From past experience,
technical knowledge together with quality control and
established procedures, our management team applies our
abilities to overcome difficult and increasingly complex issues
on construction sites projects, succeed in gaining credibility
and trusts of our existing and new customers. We continue to
gain trusts and supports of our clients and business partners
whom we have been working with over the years.

This year, mindful of our Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") responsibility and with the
encouragement of clients, we started using “B100 Biodiesel”,
based on Used Cooking Oil Methyl Ester (UCOME) to power
our generators used in some plants and machineries in one of
our newly awarded project. By turning waste to energy, we
not only got an economical and cost-effective green mobile
electricity by using less fuel, but also reduced Greenhouse Gas
Emissions.

Despite the above positive factors, the construction industry
is subject to both internal and external challenges. These
include rising cost of materials and labours, environmental
concerns and trade tensions. Increase in labour cost is mainly
due to shortage of skilled labour, aging workforce as younger
generations are reluctant in joining the construction industry.

During the year, our financial result had been adversely
affected by loss-making projects carried over from last year.
The losses were due to the provisions of the liquidated
and ascertained damages for the estimated delay in
the completion such as inclement weather, unforeseen
administrative delays and underground conditions. On the
latter, we will and have sought time extension under the
Contract as well as using our best endeavor to overcome
difficulties to minimise delays.

HRMMBIR -

RAMRAZHIREREIERER AT ([A
Nall)EREMBE AR (S AsE])
HE_Z-_W=F=ZA=+—HIFE
([ZZE== /P RFEE]) NER -

ECOVID- 19K RITHE R - MAED L
—FE2T7  AARBEEEER BERE
Eie o FAMBRHEARR A TIZE
B iEkIBE BATEAEMAMNSiET
F o BEREALFHREERZEH LK -
1B &R EAGARRIR -

BMEREFAERERSEEE A&
BEBELBTERERBERRY - REF
RUEBEREENRRNE  BHEBEL
SRl HEMBE - I EEEME BT REEE
B RAEEBEF A IR EE DR
FHEB RN B EEENREE - KA
BAEFAEFBIEENEE - HAIEE
BSEBEMAEZFENTR REBBHDN
BEMSH -

SECERINRMNERE HERENR
([ESG) BfE - RETFHEE T - JM
VAT RE & o B L BE | [B100AE M5 ih | 7%
REFEFERNBNMEREEE - B
BEREREE - B MERERE DB
ESTRBEAEBRARENFEEHE
ho ARERLD T RERBEN -

BEBLANFRAE - REXNDEEAR
FSNERPEEL o SELE R R BIEM M A TR
AEF - BREMENMEZHERRBE - AJ)
AR LT EERARARANTRR - AR
FERTERGZEXMEHNADZ
1t -

FA - RPN BEEZDNEFEENE
BBRESRINTE - ERERNRER
RRBLHRR - NAIERNITEIER MM
M E L FHEE T LAt 1R 2 i KA
EREREME - HRRE - BHAKEL
ERESRSKERRRE  TRBEAL S
TAREBIAZE R D IER ©



Chairman'’s Statement (continued)
FERE (E)

Notwithstanding the above mentioned, we are pleased to
say that in this financial year, we had been awarded 3 new
contracts with an aggregate contract sum of HK$700.5
million as compared to 2 new contracts in the last financial
year with an aggregate contract sum of HK$156.1 million.

Looking ahead, with the Government's commitment of
increasing the land supply for the development of the
infrastructures, we are hopeful that the construction industry
shall perform better in the coming year. We shall continue
to adhere to our strategy of focusing on “design and build”
projects to maintain the profit margin to safeguard our
shareholders’ interests.

On behalf of our board, | would like to express our sincere
gratitude to our management team and all our staff for
their hard work and dedication, as well as our shareholders,
business partners and other professional parties for their
continuous support.

Resignation of Independent Non-executive
Director and New Appointment

Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao Chi Meng)
resigned effective from 16 April 2024. He has been with
us for years and during his tenure, he has contributed
tremendously to the Group’s business development and
corporate governance. On behalf of the Board, | would like to
express our deepest gratitude to him and wish him a happy
and healthy life.

Ms. Mok Kam Sheung was invited to join our Board as an
independent non-executive director on 16 April 2024. As a
lawyer, she is currently a partner of a law firm. On behalf of
the Board, | would like to extend our warmest welcome to
Ms. Mok.

Lau Pak Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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Highlights
e

Hksm383.1 manx

Up HK$50.7m from FY22/23
BB CHREERMS0TEEET

Hks'm/7.0 EEx
Up HK$1.8m from FY22/23
BB CREBREEEMSEHEET

REVENUE Uz

HKcents=1.5 Bl

HK-1.8 cents in FY22/23
—ECC CZBHREESR-1.8E1

GROSS PROFIT £

Hks'm=12.9 senx
HK$-15.3m from FY22/23
—ECC- CZHREEA-153HEET

LOSS PER SHARE SR 518

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN FY2023/2024
—EC= B REEERNR

’/7 1.8%

NET LOSS 518

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN FY2022/2023
e CCHHREEERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DM

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged as a contractor in the
foundation industry in Hong Kong, undertaking foundation
works as well as associated works including demolition works,
site formation works, ground investigation field works and
general building works for local customers.

Business Review

The Group has been engaged to undertake foundation and
associated works in the private sector construction projects in
Hong Kong, with an emphasis on design and build projects
and undertaking the role as a main contractor.

The Group places emphasis on design and build projects
because of the flexibility and capability in coming up with
foundation design plan that suits its customers’ requirements
and the site conditions. During the Financial Year 2023/24,
the Group has successfully carried out construction works
with alternative design which not only complies with the
technical requirements but also be more cost efficient for
"design and build” contracts.

During the Financial Year 2023/24, three new projects
with an aggregate contract value of HK$700.5 million
were awarded to the Group. Four projects were completed
during the year. As at 31 March 2024, six projects with the
outstanding contract sum of HK$691.1 million were all in
progress.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENRR D (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(continued)

Business Review (continued)

Year of award/project

BRFE HA

%K B R RE ()

%ol R ()

Type of contract
aHER

Status as at

31 March 2023
R-ZBZ=F
ZA=+—HBHMRR

Year 2019-2020
CENFE_TFEEF
Hok Yuen Street

BEEE

Year 2020-2021
TECFEEF—FE
Wo Shang Wai

A

Des Voeux Road Central
E el

Year 2021-2022

CE R CFECCFFE
State Theatre

S BB

China Recreation Club
PERLE

Year 2022-2023

—E s FE——aF
Broadcast Drive

BEfEE

Robinson Road 27D-F
HEEE 27DF

Year 2023-2024
—Eo=F-FopmF
Robinson Road 105
EEEE105

Tai Po Kau 234
AIFE234

Coombe Road 38
Hi&38

Design and build
R R

Monitoring and maintenance
ERIRRE

Design and build

R R

Build only
5=

Design and build
EEpiscsc

Design and build
WAt RiEE
Design and build
Rt K&

Design and build
REt R
Design and build
et K&
Design and build
Rt K&

Completed
BT

Work in progress
ge=a
Work in progress
gey=a

Completed
BT
Completed
BT

Completed
25T
Work in progress

3

Work in progress
Zeed
Work in progress
fE3E
Work in progress
fEE



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENWED (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(continued)
Financial Review

During the Financial Year 2023/24, there were 11 projects
contributing revenue and gross profit of approximately
HK$383.1 million and HK$7.0 million, respectively, whereas
revenue and gross profit for the Financial Year 2022/23 of
HK$332.4 million and HK$5.2 million, respectively were
contributed by 13 projects. Top five projects contributed
revenue amounted to HK$306.8 million (2023: HK$316.2
million), in which the top project contributed 22.5% of the
total revenue.

The Group recorded an increase in contract revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2024 by approximately HK$50.7 million
as compared with that of the corresponding year in 2023.
Gross profit increased by approximately HK$1.8 million,
to approximately HK$7.0 million for the current year from
approximately HK$5.2 million for the corresponding year in
2023. Gross profit margin increased to 1.8% for the current
year from 1.6% for the corresponding year in 2023. Such
increase was primarily attributable to among other factors,
realisation of profit upon completion of projects during the
year.

Administrative and other operating expenses decreased by
approximately HK$1.7 million to approximately HK$20.6
million, compared with approximately HK$22.3 million for the
Financial Year 2022/23, which was mainly due to decrease in
salaries and foreign exchange loss arising from bank deposits
denominated in Renminbi.

As a result, loss for the Financial Year 2023/24 was HK$12.9
million, whereas loss for the last financial year was HK$15.3
million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENWE DT (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Highly regulated industry

The foundation industry is a highly regulated industry and
the Group is required to maintain certain registrations under
the laws of Hong Kong. In order to renew and maintain
these registrations, the Group is required to comply with
certain criteria set by the relevant governmental departments
and authorities such as the Buildings Department and the
Development Bureau. These include the maintenance of
certain financial criteria such as working capital level, the
adequacy of our management structure and the appropriate
experience and qualification of our personnel.

Any suspension of or a failure to maintain or renew the
Group's registrations could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business.

Uncertainty in construction progress

Due to the nature of foundation works, the foundation
and structure of any buildings adjacent to the Group's
construction sites may be affected or damaged during the
construction process.

The Group may incur additional cost and time in carrying
out remedial works and this may cause material delay in
completing a project. The Group may face claims from
customers for losses and for liquidated and ascertained
damages due to delay. Further, the Group may also be
exposed to claims and disputes from third parties arising from
damage caused to the adjacent buildings. Such claims, legal
and other proceedings may affect the Group’s reputation
and also increase the costs of the projects undertaken by
the Group, resulting in adverse impact on the financial
performance of the Group.

%K B R RE ()
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR D (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Failure to bid new contract

The Group’s business relies on successful tenders that
determine the award of contracts for foundation works and/
or associated works. Given the non-recurring nature of these
contract awards and the fact that the Group does not have
long-term commitment with its customers, the number of
contracts awarded to the Group may vary from year to year.

Upon the completion of its contracts on hand, the Group's
financial performance may be adversely affected if the Group
is unable to secure new tenders or obtain new contract
awards with comparable contract sums or at all.

Uncertain external factors

Despite the fact that the construction industry is one of the
traditional core industries in Hong Kong and it is currently
benefitting from strong housing needs and large government
infrastructure projects, the construction industry may suffer
adverse impact in the event of any change in government
policies, sudden economic setback, social unrest and
unanticipated natural disasters and outbreak of serious
disease. Since our customers are mostly private sector
property developers, the future growth and profitability of
the foundation industry largely depend on the continued
prosperity of the property market and the construction
industry in Hong Kong.

Although the Group has a number of contracts on hand,
these external factors may affect the number of new
construction projects available in the private sector in medium
to long term.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENWE DT (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(continued)

Relationships with Customers, Working
Partners and Employees

The Group maintains long-term relationships with its
customers and working partners (including sub-contractors,
suppliers and consultants), some of which have established
more than 10 years of working relationship with the Group.
The close working relationship can also be demonstrated by
the increasing number of customer portfolios and continuous
cooperation with working partners which may be engaged
by the Group in one or more of its projects at the same
time. Building successful long-term relationships with them
is a key element of the Group’s business model, which is
closely interlinked with all the other elements of its model.
Successful long-term relationships are built on trust — a trust
that the Group is able to provide quality service and excellent
customer experience. To achieve this, the Group needs
experienced people with the right skills and capabilities as
well as continuous supports from its working partners.

The Group also maintains a very stable and experienced
management team and an amicable long-term relationship
with its employees. The Group has a relatively low staff
turnover rate of 10% in the project management team in
2024 (2023: 5%) and many of the Group's skilled employees
have worked with the Group for a number of years. The
Group's key management team comprises three executive
Directors and the Chief Financial Officer, the biography
of each is set out under the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” in this report. The
Group's experienced management team, coupled with
a stable pool of skilled labour, is one of its key drives in
delivering high quality work to customers in order to attain
high customers’ satisfaction.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENWED (&)

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(continued)
Environmental Policies

The Group emphasises on environmental protection
when undertaking its projects. The Group was awarded
the ISO 14001:2015 (environment management system
accreditation). The current ISO 14001:2015 certificate is valid
from 8 August 2020 to 3 September 2026. When preparing
the tender documents, the Group will take into consideration
the environmental protection requirements of potential
customers as well as the relevant laws and regulations in
relation to environmental protection. The Group’s safety
and environmental officers are responsible for ensuring
that the Group satisfies the applicable laws and regulations
requirements and identifying and reporting on environmental
issues to our project management team.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulation

The Group mainly undertakes foundation works and
associated works for construction projects in the private
sector in Hong Kong and is thus subject to the rules and
regulations implemented by the Buildings Department which
regulates contractors in the private sector. The Directors
confirmed that during the Financial Year 2023/2024 and
up to the date of this report, the Group had obtained all
the registrations and certifications required for its business
and operations in Hong Kong, and had complied with the
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong in all material
respects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENWE DT (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

/)Ib %‘,ﬁjﬁ%ﬁlﬁ& Z'K 1‘%

As at 31 March

R=RA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-MEF —F-=
Current ratio BN & 3.0 3.8
Gearing ratio’ AEAGLE 5.0% 6.7%
Note: Bt 5
1. Gearing ratio is calculated based on debts including lease liabilities and 1. AEABLERER(BEEAEEERKRE

shareholder’s loan divided by the total equity as at the reporting dates.

Gearing ratio decreased by 1.7 percentage point as at 31
March 2024 as compared to that as at 31 March 2023 was
mainly due to repayment of HK$5.2 million lease liabilities
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances
of HK$78.6 million (2023: HK$112.0 million), of which
HK$43.9 million (2023: HK$43.6 million) were restricted bank
balances. Such restricted bank balances were held for the
purpose of the issuance of surety bonds for our projects and
requirement of our general banking facilities. As at 31 March
2024, the Group had no bank overdrafts (2023: Nil).

The capital structure of the Group consisted of equity of
HK$261.6 million, with HK$13.1 million debts as at 31 March
2024.

The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash management.
Apart from certain debts including lease liabilities and
shareholder’s loan, the Group did not have any material
outstanding debts as at 31 March 2024. Payment to settle
trade payable represented the significant part of the cash
outflow of the Group. Taking into account the light debt
leverage, the Group is able to generate cash and meet
upcoming cash requirements. In any case, the Group may
utilise its banking facilities of HK$190.0 million, of which the
unutilised and unrestricted banking facilities amounted to
approximately HK$100.2 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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EMPLOYEES

The Group had 48 full-time employees as at 31 March 2024
(2023: 53). The Group offers a competitive remuneration
package that is based on the overall market rates and
employee performance, as well as the performance of the
Group. The remuneration package comprised of salary, a
performance-based bonus, and other benefits including
training and mandatory provident funds.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2024
(2023: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements, the
Group had no other contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2024.

CHARGE OVER ASSETS

Save as disclosed in notes 13, 14(a) and 17(b) to the financial
statements, as at 31 March 2024, the Group had no other
significant assets under pledge (2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES, AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There were no significant investments held, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies during the Financial Year 2023/24. There is no
other plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31
March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Taking into account the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region’s policy in increasing land
supply and commitment to infrastructure investments, the
Group expects a rebound in the foundation industry in the
medium run. Despite the vigorous competition in the Hong
Kong construction industry, the Board is confident with the
Group's future development in its net profit and scale of
operations due to its long established reputation, the listing
platform and healthy financial position. To maintain its
competitive edge, the Group will continue to adhere to its
business strategy, by expanding our capacity to capture more
business opportunities, reinforcing its capability in foundation
design and project management skills, and offering
qualitative and flexible solution to its customers.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEANEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Pak Man (2/1A32), aged 69, is our Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer, executive Director and General Manager of
the Group. Mr. Lau, together with Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong,
are the founders of the Group. Mr. Lau is responsible for
overall strategic development, project management and
client management of the Group. Mr. Lau has also been a
director of In Construction Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, since 20 December 1996. Mr. Lau
obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering
from the University of Leeds in July 1979. Mr. Lau has nearly
32 years of extensive experience in the construction industry
in Hong Kong since 1991. Prior to founding In Construction
Limited in December 1996, Mr. Lau was the project
manager and contract manager of Fong On Construction
& Engineering Co Ltd. between January 1991 till December
1994 and January 1995 till December 1996, respectively,
who was mainly responsible for H-piling foundations,
supply and installations projects as well as a construction
and redevelopment project. Mr. Lau has been a member
of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since July 1992,
a chartered engineer of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
London, England since November 1984, a member of the
Institution of Civil Engineers since December 1983, a member
of the Institute of Highways and Transportation, London,
England since March 1983 and is a registered professional
engineer (civil) of Engineers Registration Board. Mr. Lau is the
spouse of Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit.

Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong (¥% &), aged 69, is our
executive Director and the Director — Construction of the
Group. Mr. Cheng, together with Mr. Lau Pak Man, are the
founders of the Group and is responsible for overseeing
the tender process including foundation design and project
budget, as well as quality control of our projects. Mr. Cheng
has been a director of In Construction Limited since 20
December 1996. Mr. Cheng obtained a Bachelor of Science
degree in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong
in October 1977. In the course of his career, Mr. Cheng
has accumulated more than 20 years of comprehensive
experience in the construction industry. Between May 1989
and August 1992, Mr. Cheng worked in China Overseas
Foundation Engineering Limited as a director and deputy
general manager.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit (B83£ 1), aged 52, is our executive
Director and the Director — Operations of the Group.
Ms. Kwan is responsible for project management and
coordination, as well as daily operations of the Group.
Ms. Kwan has been a director of In Construction Limited since
1 December 2014. Ms. Kwan obtained a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in Management from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 1994.
Ms. Kwan has accumulated over 20 years of experience in
the construction industry. She joined In Construction Limited
as an assistant manager in April 1997. Prior to joining
our Group, Ms. Kwan worked in Sam Woo Engineering
Equipment Limited from February 1995 to April 1997, as an
assistant manager. Ms. Kwan is the spouse of Mr. Lau Pak
Man.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Chi Kin (R#E), aged 70, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed by the Company on
26 March 2015. Mr. Leung obtained a high diploma in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(formerly known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic) in November
1976. In the course of his career, Mr. Leung has accumulated
over 40 years of working experience in auditing, accounting,
taxation and financial management. Mr. Leung is currently
a practicing Certified Public Accountant and managing
director of Chang Leung Hui & Li C.P.A. Limited. He is also
a Certified Tax Adviser of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Mr. Leung is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and a member
of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Between
June 1976 and November 1980, Mr. Leung worked in Lowe
Bingham & Matthews Price Waterhouse & Co., and then
started his own accounting practice in January 1981 and has
been in public practice up to now.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EEREREEABEE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis (# & #), aged 76, is an
independent non-executive Director appointed by the
Company on 26 March 2015. Mr. Lam obtained a Bachelor of
Science degree in November 1969, and after that he obtained
a degree of Doctor of Philosophy from the University of
Hong Kong in November 1972. Mr. Lam has over 45 years of
experience in engineering. Mr. Lam has been the managing
director and founder of LR Construction Technologies Limited
since August 2012, the managing director and co-founder of
LR Construction and Consultancy Limited since April 2012,
the managing director and co-founder of LR loT Limited since
June 2009. From November 1996 to August 2004, Mr. Lam
was a principal lecturer of the Vocational Training Council.
From 1976 to 1987, Mr. Lam was an appointed lecturer in
the Department of Civil and Structural Engineering of the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lam has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers since November 1975
and is also a registered professional engineer of Engineers
Registration Board.

Mr. Lam has also been appointed Head of Department of
Civil Engineering of Chu Hai College of Higher Education
since March 2020. Mr. Lam has been an independent
non-executive director of Magnus Concordia Group Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 1172) from 26 January 2018 to
25 January 2022.

B FHITES (B)

MEBEE T6m BARARZ-E
—RF=Z AT ANBEEABILIERNTT
EFE - MEER—NANF+—AES
BEE+ HEER-—NtZF+—A
BISEBEREBEEE L6 - MEER
TITHREEFOISFHNLR BT —=
FNNARES - MELERBLR Construction
Technologies Limitedf) & S B & 18 &
BIfA BT ——FMA#BLR
Construction and Consultancy Limited#) 2
FREERBEEIMA BZETNER
A8+ ALR loT Limited#) 25 35 42 45 18 [ Hb
BRIMA c —NWNAARE+T—AZEZEE
WENA - MEERBEIRBHEEE
B e —NERFE—NNEF L
BEZEAREBRBIARTIREEIERY
EE e BE—NRtERFT+— AR MEER
HAEIRRMEeE 8 RIS TRMZMRE
ERNEMEZEITRAM-

W_ZE-TF= ARMEERTRAES
WESMREARIREREM - MEERZ
Z—N\F—A -+ "BE-_Z-_F—A
“tHEHEABAEBERMNABR AR (B
LA AR 1172) BB IEITE S -



20

IN CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023/2024

4

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. Mok Kam Sheung (E $3%), age 64, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed by the Company on 16
April 2024. Ms. Mok holds a Bachelor of Arts (honours)
degree. She has over 26 years working experience of legal
affairs and is now a partner of CFN Lawyers. Ms. Mok's
practice focuses on corporate finance with a strong emphasis
on initial public offerings (IPOs), secondary market fund
raisings, listed company compliance and related transactions.
She has extensive experience in advising international and
local companies seeking flotations on the Stock Exchange
and sponsors/underwriters to the applicants. Ms. Mok also
advises on mergers and acquisitions, pre-IPO investments
and corporate restructuring. Ms. Mok was an independent
non-executive Director of the China Reinsurance (Group)
Corporation (stock code: 1508) from August 2015 to August
2023, and she is currently an independent director of China
Reinsurance (Hong Kong) Limited. Ms. Mok is qualified to
practise as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong and
the Supreme Court of England and Wales. She is also a
China-appointed attesting officer appointed by the Ministry
of Justice of the PRC.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND COMPANY

SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Sin Yi Reginia (E£f&1%), aged 58, has joined
us as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group since 1 March
2019, and was appointed as our company secretary on 8
March 2019. Ms. Wong is responsible for the accounting and
financial functions, internal control as well as the company
secretary affairs of the Group. Ms. Wong is an associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and an associate of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. She holds a master degree in Business
Administration from the University of South Australia. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience
as the finance manager of several listed companies in Hong
Kong and has extensive experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management.
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Directors’ Report
EEZgWmE

The Board presents this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in foundation works
as well as associated works including demolition works,
site formation works, ground investigation field works and
general building works. The activities and particulars of the
Company’s subsidiaries are shown under note 12 to the
financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 60 of
this report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the
Financial Year 2023/24.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
2023/2024 AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 3 September 2024 to Friday, 6
September 2024, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
Shareholders of the Company are reminded to ensure that all
completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Branch
Share Registrar (Branch Share Registrar) in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East Finance
Centre, No. 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2 September 2024.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

EEERE (&)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring
disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, is set out on page 132.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements in this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Financial Year 2023/24 in
the share capital are set out in note 19(c) to the financial
statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Financial
Year 2023/24.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$132,096,000.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
note 11 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”), or the law of
Cayman Islands being the jurisdiction in which the Company
is incorporated.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
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DIRECTORS 5=
(a) Directors of the Company (@) ERAE=E

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this report, are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Pak Man (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong

Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Chi Kin

Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis

Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao Chi Meng)
(resigned on 16 April 2024)

Ms. Mok Kam Sheung (appointed on 16 April 2024)

In accordance with article 112 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Ms. Mok Kam Sheung, being an
independent non-executive Director newly appointed
on 16 April 2024, will hold office until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after her appointment
which will be held on 6 September 2024) (the AGM)
and shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board
proposed Ms. Mok Kam Sheung to be re-elected as
independent non-executive Director of the Company at
the AGM.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or, if their number
is not 3 or a multiple of 3, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation at every annual general meeting of the
Company. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election. Mr. Lau Pak Man and Mr. Leung Chi Kin
retire from office by rotation at the 2023/2024 AGM
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the said meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
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DIRECTORS (continued)
(b) Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries

During the year and up to the date of this report,
Mr. Lau Pak Man, Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong and
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit are also directors in certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company and each of the independent
non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter
with the Company. The appointment of each of the Directors
is for a period of three years and shall continue thereafter
until being terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice.

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provide that every Director shall be indemnified
out of the assets and profits of the Company against liabilities
(to the extent permitted by the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) incurred by him
as such Director in the execution of his duties or otherwise
in relation thereto, provided that such indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to any such director. The Company has
taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs associated
with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or during the
financial year ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS

Save for Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong'’s interest in Longo Piling
Company, details of which were set out in the section
headed “Relationships with Controlling Shareholders” of
the Prospectus, none of the Directors nor the controlling
shareholders of the Company nor their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
that competed or might compete with the business of the
Group in the Financial Year 2023/24.

Mr. Lau Pak Man, Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit, In Play Limited and
Kinetic Kingdom Limited, being the controlling shareholders
of the Company declared that they have complied with the
undertakings given under the Deed of Non-competition as
disclosed in the Prospectus. Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong, Longo
Piling Company and Wealth Celebration Limited declared
that they have complied with the undertakings given under
the Longo Deed of Non-competition as disclosed in the
Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors were delegated
with the authority to review, on an annual basis, the
compliance with the Deed of Non-competition and the Longo
Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive
Directors were not aware of any non-compliance of both
Deeds of Non-competition since the respective dates of the
deeds and up to the date of this report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” of this report.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'

INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules,
were as follows:

EEREBTHRAEBNESESR

RZEBE-_ME=ZA=+—H0 FELAEARQ
AEEZTHAEBRAR A RERAE LR
(EERBFLAEED ([EFHMHEE
1) &5 - HERDKESTES @IRIE
B REE B EXVERET 8D B EME
RN E] MR T s MR B (B IR IRIR
BHRHEEAZEG RS E 1EX
HAEREENERLAR)  JbO)IREES
N AR E DI 352G B E RN ZIEHR T
BERELMAMEZR AR SORE L
TR BN ERCIFTE T BT AESRETT
BHERXZHRETAAEMNES AR F) KB
FreyiEs AR T ¢

Long positions in the shares: BROWEAE
Approximate
percentage
of the
issued share
capital of
the Company
Capacity/ Number of EAEA T
Name of Director Nature of Interest shares BRETREAN
EEpgg 5/ EEHtE ROBEHAE BAED
Mr. Lau Pak Man Beneficial owner 7,520,000 0.91%
Ak EnBEAA
Interest in a controlled
corporation ot 270,000,000 32.53%
BRI 28 B s e
Interest of spouse ®ete 2 60,000,000 7.23%
ARG 25 i
Total 337,520,000 40.67%
At
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong Beneficial owner 5,900,000 0.71%
BREXE EnEAA
Interest in a controlled
corporation Mot 3) 270,000,000 32.53%
ARG A A H e
Total 275,900,000 33.24%
att
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit Interest in a controlled
corporation Mote® 60,000,000 7.23%
B2 Lt RRIEH A7) fy e
Interest of spouse Mete % 277,520,000 33.44%
fic (5 2 (1)
Total 337,520,000 40.67%
At
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.72%
(also known as lao Chi Meng) E#=#A A
EFEEsE
Total 6,000,000 0.72%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Notes:

1. In Play Limited is 100.0% owned by Mr. Lau Pak Man. Mr. Lau Pak Man
is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by In Play Limited
under the SFO.

2. Mr. Lau Pak Man is the spouse of Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Lau Pak Man is deemed to be interested in the same number of

shares in which Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit is deemed to be interested.

3. Wealth Celebration Limited is 100.0% owned by Mr. Cheng Wing
Cheong. Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong is therefore deemed to be interested
in the shares held by Wealth Celebration Limited under the SFO.

4, Kinetic Kingdom Limited is 100.0% owned by Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit.
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares
held by Kinetic Kingdom Limited under the SFO.

5. Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit is the spouse of Mr. Lau Pak Man. By virtue of
the SFO, Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit is deemed to be interested in the same
number of shares in which Mr. Lau Pak Man is deemed to be interested.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on 16 April 2015. The register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at 31
March 2024, the following shareholders, other than those
disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive's Interest in Securities”, had notified the Company
of its interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

FERRHFEZERS (F)

Long positions in the shares: RGHEFRE
Approximate
percentage
of the issued
share capital
of the Company
Name of Number of HEATE
substantial shareholder Capacity shares BITRAMN
FTERRERE &1 RO EE BHAEDH
In Play Limited Beneficial owner 270,000,000 32.53%
EEEAA
Wealth Celebration Limited Beneficial owner 270,000,000 32.53%
EnlEE A
Kinetic Kingdom Limited Beneficial owner 60,000,000 7.23%
EnER A
MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS FEHERREFR

The percentage of purchases and sales for the financial year
ended 31 March 2024 attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 27.5%
— five largest suppliers combined 58.3%
Sales

— the largest customer 22.5%
— five largest customers combined 88.5%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had an
interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

REZEZZTWF=A=+—"HILEHEF
B AEETEHERIEPEERER
HEBDLT
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— A ERE 27.5%
—ARHEEEET 58.3%
—&RAEF 22.5%
—HAAREFAR 88.5%
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests in securities” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company which require compliance with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Details of material related party transactions
undertaken in the usual course of business of the Group
are set out in note 23 to the financial statements. However,
these transactions were either exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, or did
not fall under the definition of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to
the best belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained the public float as required by the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to
the date of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Financial Year
2023/2024 is included in the Management Discussion and
Analysis in this report on pages 7 to 16 and forms part of this
Directors’ Report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund
prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Save
as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other
pension schemes during the Financial Year 2023/24.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS UNDER

RULE 13.18 OF THE LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company as guarantor, and In
Construction Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) as borrower, have entered into facility
agreements relating to a HK$80 million general banking and
term loan facilities (“Facility 1”) and a HK$25 million hire
purchase loan (“Facility 2") with licensed banks in Hong Kong
as lenders. The facilities can be renewable in every three years
and five years respectively from the date of signing the facility
agreements.

According to the Facility 1 and Facility 2, the Company, as
guarantor, has undertaken to the lenders that Mr. Lau Pak
Man, Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong and Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit
will maintain an aggregate beneficial shareholding of not less
than 50% of the entire issued share capital of the Company;
Facility 1 also requires any of Mr. Lau Pak Man, Mr. Cheng
Wing Cheong and Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit will remain as the
chairman of the Company.

A breach of the above undertakings will constitute an event
of default, and the lenders may cancel or suspend the
facilities and demand repayment of any outstanding amounts
under the facility agreements together with interest accrued
thereon.

The above undertakings contain covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholders of the Company
which are subject to disclosure under Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint KPMG as the auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

Lau Pak Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate
transparency and accountability. The Company is committed
in achieving a high standard of corporate governance and
leading the Group to attain better results and improve
its corporate image with effective corporate governance
procedures.

Since Listing, the Board is of the opinion that the Company
had adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules except for the
deviation from provision C.2.1 of the Code.

According to provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lau Pak
Man is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, responsible
for overall strategic development, project management and
client management of the Group. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in Mr. Lau Pak Man has the benefit of ensuring
consistent and continuous planning and execution of the
Company’s strategies. The Board considers that the balance
of power and authority, accountability and independent
decision-making under the present arrangement will not be
impaired in light of the diverse background and experience
of the independent non-executive Directors, and the
composition of the Board which comprises equal number of
independent non-executive Directors and executive Directors
also provides added independence to the Board. Further,
the Audit Committee composed exclusively of independent
non-executive Directors has free and direct access to the
Company’s external auditors and independent professional
advisers when it considers necessary.

GROUP'S VALUE AND CULTURE
Business Strategies
The business strategies of our Group include:

> Maintain our position as a key player in the
construction industry;

> Broaden our customer base;

> Continuing to develop our niche market of construction
site with considerable difficulty and complexity.
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GROUP'S VALUE AND CULTURE (continued)
Culture

To drive the sustainable development to attain its corporate
purpose, the Group promotes the corporate culture of
“RISE”, which aims to equip colleagues with the qualities of
Responsible, Integrity, Safety and Excellence.

> Responsible — Responsible to the jobs assigned, as well
as responsible to the society as a whole;

> Integrity — Be honest and comply with the
Anti-corruption Policies of the Group;

>  Safety — To ensure the Health and Safety at work;

> Excellence — Provide quality services to customers, and
response quickly to customers’ queries/comments.

Purpose

The Company is principally engaged as a contractor in the
foundation industry in Hong Kong. The Company aims at
providing a safe foundation of the buildings, as well as
creating sustainable value by reducing greenhouse gases
(GHG) emissions, noise and air pollution arising from our
project activities.

Value

>  Customers-Oriented — commitment to economic
design, due execution of construction works and
impeccable customer services;

> Meritocracy — strives to build an efficient and
value-creating team. We focus on recruitment and staff
development;

>  (reating both Economic and Sustainable Value —
maximizing returns for shareholders, protect the
environment by reducing greenhouse gases (GHG)
emissions, noise and water pollution arising from our
project activities to combat climate change; and provide
a safe working environment for our workmen.

> Integrity — We uphold honesty and integrity in all our
activities.
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THE BOARD

Board Composition
The Board consists of six Directors including Mr. Lau

Pak Man (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer),
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong and Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit
as the executive Directors and Mr. Leung Chi Kin,
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis and Ms. Mok Kam Sheung as
the independent non-executive Directors. Their names
and biographical details are set in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in
this report. The overall management of the Company’s
operation was vested in the Board.

With effect from 16 April 2024, Mr. Yau Chi Man
Norman (also known as lao Chi Meng), resigned as an
Independence Non-executive Director of the Company
and Ms. Mok Kam Sheung was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director.

Save that Mr. Lau Pak Man and Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit
are spouses, there are no financial, business, family or
other material relationships among members of the
Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has
at all times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and
(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The three independent non-executive Directors
represent half of the Board, the proportion of which
is higher than what is required by Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive
directors of a listed issuer must represent at least one-
third of the board. The Board believes there is sufficient
independence element in the Board to safeguard the
interest of shareholders of the Company.

(A)
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THE BOARD (continued)

Directors’ Responsibilities
The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major

matters of the Company, including the formulation and
approval of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal
control and risk management systems, and monitor
the performance of the senior executives. The Directors
have to make decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company.

Liability insurance for the Directors and senior
management officers of the Company was maintained
by the Company with coverage for any legal liabilities
which may arise in the course of performing their
duties.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Directors
along with other senior executives, is delegated with
responsibilities for implementing the strategy and
direction as adopted by the Board from time to
time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of
the Group. Executive Directors and senior executives
meet regularly to review the performance of the
businesses of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate
overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions
as to their powers of management including
circumstances where the management should report
back, and will review the delegation arrangements on
a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate
to the needs of the Group.

Compliance with the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct of dealings in securities of the
Company by Directors (the “Model Code”). Upon
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them
confirmed that he/she has complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code during the
Financial Year 2023/24.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play
a significant role in the Board by virtue of their
independent judgement and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. They bring an
impartial view on issues of the Company’s strategies,
performance and control.

All independent non-executive Directors possess
extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their
professional advice to the Board.

The Board also considers that the independent non-
executive Directors can provide independent advice
on the Company’s business strategies, results and
management so as to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its shareholders.

Except Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao Chi
Meng) who resigned on 16 April 2024, all independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years and are renewable for a period of three
years. None of the independent non-executive Directors
held any other offices in the Company or any of its
subsidiaries. All independent non-executive Directors
have confirmed their independence to the Company
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

(continued)

In respect of Ms. Mok Kam Sheung, an independent
non-executive Director of the Company, Ms. Mok Kam
Sheung is the spouse of Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman
(also known as lao Chi Meng), a resigned independent
non-executive director of the Company, the Board
and the Nomination Committee however considers
that Ms. Mok Kam Sheung is independent and an
appropriate candidate to fill the casual vacancy arising
from the resignation of Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman
(also known as lao Chi Meng) for, among others, the
following reasons: (i) Ms. Mok Kam Sheung satisfies
all the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules except for Rule 3.13(6) of the Listing
Rules solely for her being the spouse of the resigning
independent non-executive Director of the Company.
The Board is not aware of any factors that may affect
her independence as an independent non-executive
Director. The Board is of the view that being the
spouse of a former independent non-executive Director
should not automatically be deemed to adversely
affect or impair Ms. Mok Kam Sheung’s independence
as an independent non-executive Director herself.
Considering Ms. Mok Kam Sheung’s attributes and
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman'’s (also known as lao Chi
Meng) satisfaction of all independence criteria under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from the date of his
appointment up to the date of his resignation hereof
as an independent non-executive Director, the Board
is of the view that Ms. Mok Kam Sheung’s connection
with Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman (also known as lao
Chi Meng) should not be perceived to have a negative
impact on her independence; (ii) Having considered
Ms. Mok Kam Sheung’s background, professional
qualifications and experience, the Company believes
that Ms. Mok Kam Sheung is capable of exercising her
professional judgment and draw upon her extensive
knowledge and experience in the legal field. The Board
further believes that she is of sufficient calibre and
attributes and her valuable experience in the legal
field, professional knowledge and acumen will bring
significant contribution and benefits to the Board and
the Company as a whole; and (iii) the appointment
of Ms. Mok Kam Sheung will improve the diversity of
the Board in terms of (a) gender by adding a female
independent non-executive Director in addition to
the existing one female executor director; and (b)
professional qualification and experience by adding
a solicitor with substantial experience in the capital
markets to the current Board which mainly comprises
directors with engineering qualification and experience.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, except Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman
(also known as lao Chi Meng) who resigned on 16
April 2024, has entered into a service contract or a
letter of appointment with the Company for a specific
term. Such term is subject to his/her re-election by the
Company at an annual general meeting (“AGM") upon
retirement. Article 112 of the Articles provides that any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
in the Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the members of Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles, at each
AGM of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Lau Pak
Man and Mr. Leung Chi Kin shall retire from office by
rotation at the next AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the said meeting.

Ms. Mok Kam Sheung’s initial term of directorship
will last until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after her appointment at which she is eligible
for re-election and she is also subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company, the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and the laws of the Cayman Islands.

On 10 April 2024, Ms. Mok Kam Sheung has (i)
obtained legal advice from Marie Tsang, Dustin Chan
& Co., as regards the requirements under the Listing
Rules that are applicable to her as a Director and the
possible consequences of making a false declaration or
giving false information to the Stock Exchange; and (ii)
confirmed she understood her obligations as a Director.

The members of the Company may, at any general
meetings convened and held in accordance with the
Articles, remove a Director by ordinary resolution at any
time before the expiration of his/her period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or
in any agreement between the Company and such
Director and may by ordinary resolution elect another
person in his/her stead.
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THE BOARD (continued) A) EEE (8
Appointment, Re-election and Removal of EECER -ERKRER (B)
Directors (continued)
The Company has also complied with the requirement REZECDETESBBNFNE T
of Part 2 of the CG Code on considering the FPTESER  ARAINTEEEH
independence of Independent Non-executive Director B BT ERRTAIE
who has served more than nine years for his further B E Bk - RRFERE AR T
appointment. The re-election of Mr. Leung Chi Kin, 3F$ﬂﬁ%$ﬁﬁi@ﬂ¢ HEE H—rﬁ’\
who has served on the Board for more than nine years, BN T 2= =/=ZZ=-m
will be considered by vote on a separate resolution at Hx?ﬂﬁj(A ( —E-= 5@
the forthcoming 2023/2024 Annual General Meeting “HERFEBFARE]) EABT
(the “2023/2024 AGM"). The Board’s view on RBRIVARR - ARFRELEZ
Mr. Leung Chi Kin's independent status will be set out BYM EFERERBREN_F
in the 2023/2024 AGM circular. TE/CECNERRBFRER
e T AR -
Board Meetings Exeg3
The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the EFgriemEa kilERER
overall strategy as well as the operation and financial BV EE BB SRS LA S 8 MBI ISR IR -
performance of the Group. Directors may participate EFAHELEIUEFREAAR
either in person or through electronic means of SHEEH -
communications.
The Board had convened five regular meetings during EEFeNAFECBRAXNTHE
the year. The attendance of the respective Directors to HOBEFEHFREEE SR LBRE
the Board meetings and the AGM are set out below: BFEREMNCEHINAT :
Attendance/Number of
meetings held
RE/BTERRY
Regular
Board meetings AGM
THESEER BRERBFAE
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Lau Pak Man A ks
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FERITEAEZ) 5/5 11
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong B 5 5/5 m
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit BEL L 5/5 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors VHHTES
Mr. Leung Chi Kin 2RSS E 5/5 11
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis MEM LA 5/5 171
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman FEFEEE
(also known as lao Chi Meng) (R—EBE-E
Resigned on 16 April 2024 mA+SBET) 5/5 171
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(A) THE BOARD (continued)

Board Meetings (continued)

All Directors received training in the form of seminar
and provision of training materials to ensure that he/
she is fully aware of his/her duties and responsibilities as
a director under applicable rules and requirements. All
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
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knowledge and skills.

REWERLETRNZ ZHBERK
BE ULEHRTEEREZL
BEBZEREDMEERE A
EERHENER -

The Company Secretary updates Directors on the latest
developments and changes to the Listing Rules and the
applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary in the discharge of their duties.

EERBEESAREIILEERE
ERANREBREEH 2 HRFE
B B REETRE

Directors are continually updated on developments in
the statutory and regulatory regime and the business
environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

EZABFAARRRBRERERS
FREFERE2EIFIIRS 2 F15 0 &
ARBREZEFERIRE - RIB
ARRFEZBILE  SEER
BE-_T_ME=-A=+t—HBLF
BESZZEIIamT

Directors are required to submit to the Company
annually details of training sessions undertaken by
them in each financial year for the Company to
maintain a training record for its Directors. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the
training received by each of the Directors during the
year ended 31 March 2024 is summarised as follows:

Type of trainings

Name of Director EENR EINER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lau Pak Man AL E A, B
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong BREE S S A A, B
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit RO A, B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIkBTES
Mr. Leung Chi Kin PR E A, B
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis MERE ST & A, B
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman EFEEE
(also known as lao Chi Meng) (R=—ZT=—meE

(resigned on 16 April 2024) MA+/NEEE) A, B

A attending seminars/conferences/workshops/forums A 2SS TIEY WwiE
B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the B: BIEERAH RREBRESFHER

RAESEMN®RE BT REHER

economy, environmental protection business or director’s duties
and responsibilities etc.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the
Code.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees
and has delegated various responsibilities to the
committees including the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All the
Board committees perform their distinct roles in
accordance with their respective terms of reference
which are available to shareholders of the Company
on the websites of both the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expense.
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THE BOARD (continued) A) BEEE(8E)
Audit Committee EREES
The Company established the Audit Committee on RARRRZZE—RFE=A=+<AH
26 March 2015 with written terms of reference in Y BZEEES  WiEBR EMAEA
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and F3.215E K Em R AIMERC15F RIS
paragraph D.3.3 of the Code as set out in Appendix D33EWME FIVEEBESR
C1 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit cERLZEENEIEBRE AN
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board BN EERERRNEEFSIR
on appointments and removal of external auditors; HER BRRERVEARARE
review and to supervise the financial reporting process MAREEANIEZERRRE RN
and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls Bt - BRLESHEEE MINDIZ
and risk management. The Audit Committee meets BAESHEE TREFFRS
regularly with management and external auditors NRAFERFERE M ER - B
in reviewing the interim and annual reports of the B SPHRFERE -
Company before submission to the Board for approval.
The Audit Committee consists of three independent BZEZECHR KRB UIERTES
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Chi 4Pk - BIERNERLEL (FREEE
Kin (being the chairman of the Audit Committee), FE) MEHLEERERELL -
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis and Ms. Mok Kam Sheung. BREMMBBIEI2VERETE |
In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, ZERXRABRBESEREHE
the chairman of the Audit Committee possesses the & o
appropriate professional and accounting qualifications.
The Audit Committee convened three meetings during EREZEERAFERT=RE
the year with attendance of each member as follows: = SREHFERENT
Attendance/Number of
meetings held
HERE BIEBERE
Mr. Leung Chi Kin (Chairman) PRRSTE (F/E) 3/3
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis S So 3/3
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman FFEEsE
(also known as lao Chi Meng) (R=ZZE=—mmF
(resigned on 16 April 2024) MA+NABE) 3/3
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(A) THE BOARD (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration
Committee on 26 March 2015 with written terms of
reference in compliance with paragraph E.1.2 of the
Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
Directors and senior management of our Group; review
performance based remuneration; reviewing and/or
approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and ensure none of our
Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee consists of 3 members,
being Ms. Mok Kam Sheung (being the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit and
Mr. Leung Chi Kin.

The Remuneration Committee convened one meeting
during the year with the attendance of each member as
follows:
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Attendance/Number of
meetings held

HERE BITEHRE

Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman EFEE(ERE)
(also known as lao Chi Meng) — (R=ZZE=—mF
(Chairman) (resigned on 16 April 2024) P4 A+7XHEHT)

Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit
Mr. Leung Chi Kin

mRLLt
BB L
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171
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THE BOARD (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued) Pursuant to code
provision E.1.5 of the Code, the annual remuneration
(including bonus) of the members of the senior
management of the Group by band for the year ended
31 March 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration Band

FEEE
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Number of Senior
Management
EREEAESHAE

Up to HK$1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee
on 26 March 2015 with written terms of reference in
compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment
of Directors and the management of the Board
succession.

The Nomination Committee consists of 3 members,
being Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis (being the chairman of
the Nomination Committee), Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong
and Ms. Mok Kam Sheung.

The Nomination Committee convened one meeting
during the year with the attendance of each member as
follows:

1,000,000/ 7L A T~
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Attendance/Number of
meetings held

HERE BITEERE

Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis (Chairman)

MEMETAE ()

Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong BBt

Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman EFHEE
(also known as lao Chi Meng) (R=—Z—meF
(resigned on 16 April 2024) MA+RAEE)
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to the talent, skill,
regional and industry experience, background, gender
and other qualities.

The Board will consider putting in place measurable
objectives to implement the Policy and review such
objectives annually to ensure their appropriateness and
ascertain the progress made towards achieving those
objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy
annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy and considered the policy effective.

Dividend Policy

When considering whether to propose a dividend
and determining its amount, the Board of Directors
considers various factors, including but not limited to:

> The overall operational and financial condition of
the Group;

> The most recent capital and debt levels of the
Group;

> Future cash requirements, business strategies,
and development needs;

> Restrictions on dividend payments imposed by
the Group's creditors (if applicable);

> General market conditions;

> Other factors deemed relevant by the Board.
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(A) THE BOARD (continued) (A E== (B)

Dividend Policy (continued)

The Company’s ability to pay dividends is subject to
any restrictions imposed by the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the articles of association of
the Company. The Dividend Policy undergoes periodic
reviews by the Board of Directors.

Board Review on Other Policies

In addition to the Board Diversity Policy, during the year
under review, the Board also reviewed the following
guidelines and policies and considers these policies are
implemented effectively:

° Whistleblowing Policy;
° Anti-Corruption Policy and Code of Conduct;
° Shareholders’ Communication Policy.

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views

and Input are available to the Board

The Company has established mechanism to ensure
independent views and input are available to the
Board. The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanism from the following
two aspects:

1. Independence assessment criteria for
independent non-executive Directors

(i) annual independence assessment of
each independent non-executive Director
according to the Nomination Policy as set
out below and Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and

(i)  annual review of tenure of each
independent non-executive Director.
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(A) THE BOARD (continued)

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views
and Input are available to the Board
(continued)

2.

Assessment to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

review of the Board and Board committee
structure,

management of conflict of interest;

review of remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors;

recruitment channels and procedures for
independent non-executive Directors;

annual review of time commitment of
each of the independent non-executive
Directors;

in order to facilitate Directors to properly
perform their duties, all Directors could
seek advice from the Company Secretary,
and can also seek advice from independent
professional advisors, at the Company’s
expense; and

annual meeting between the Chairman
and Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year under review, the Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board and
considered the mechanism effective.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024 in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also acknowledge their
responsibilities to ensure that the financial statements
of the Group are published in a timely manner. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared the financial statements of the Group on a
going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of our Company’s external
auditors on the financial statements of the Group are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” in this
report.

External Auditor's Remuneration

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the remunerations
paid or payable to KPMG in respect of its audit
services and non-audit services are HK$1,080,000
and HK$420,000, respectively. The non-audit services
mainly represent the service fee of HK$400,000 paid
to KPMG for the review of interim results of the Group
for the six months ended 30 September 2023 and
HK$20,000 for agreed-upon procedures regarding
the Group’s annual results announcement. The Audit
Committee was satisfied that the non-audit services
in the Financial Year 2023/24 did not affect the
independence of the auditor.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness annually through the audit committee.
Procedures have been designed for safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publications and the compliance of applicable
laws, rules and regulations. The audit committee
reports to the Board on any material issues and makes
recommendations to improve the effectiveness to the
Board.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against
material errors, losses or fraud, the Company has
established a risk management procedures which
comprised the following steps:

o Identify risk: Identify major and significant risks
that could affect the achievement of goals of the
Group;

o Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the

identified risk according to its likely impact and
the likelihood of occurrence;

o Risk mitigation: Develop effective control
activities to mitigate the risks.

Risk identification and assessment is performed or
updated annually, and the results of risk assessment,
evaluation and mitigation of each functions or
operation are documented in the Risk Registry to
communicate to the Board and Management for
reviews.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

The Company does not have an internal audit function
and has engaged an external consultant to conduct an
assessment on the effectiveness of risk management
and internal controls of the Group for the period
from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024. The Board
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group and is satisfied
that the Group has complied with the Code in respect
of internal control from the period from 1 April 2023
to 31 March 2024. The internal control is reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the executive
Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed at
least once each year by the Board.

Having reviewed the above aspects of the financial
reporting, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the Company considers the
financial reporting, risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate.

Linkage between Corporate Governance

and ESG

Corporate governance provides the framework
within which the Board forms decisions and
develops businesses. The Board focuses on creating
long-term sustainable growth for Shareholders and
delivering long-term values to all shareholders. The
well-established corporate governance structure of the
Group allows us to have a better understanding of,
evaluate and manage, risks and opportunities, including
ESG risk and opportunities.

The Board is responsible for effective governance and
oversight of ESG matters, as well as assessment and
management of material environmental and social
risks. Safety officers are responsible for keeping track
of the progress in achieving the Group’s ESG targets
and ensuring compliance with the ESG-related laws and
regulations. For details of the Group's environmental
and social matters, stakeholders can refer to our
separate ESG Report prepared in accordance with the
requirements under the ESG Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Company Secretary

The Company has appointed Ms. Wong Sin Yi Reginia,
who is an employee of the Company, as its company
secretary. Ms. Wong has confirmed that for the year
under review, she has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training. The biography of
Ms. Wong is set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY AND

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Shareholders’ Right

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary
general meetings may be convened on the requisition
of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, in the
share capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings and the foregoing shareholders
shall be able to add resolutions to the meeting agenda.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the company secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. Shareholders
may follow the procedures set out above to convene
an extraordinary general meeting for any business
specified in such written requisition.
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)
Shareholders’ Right (continued)

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose
that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office of the Company. The period for
lodgement of the notices required will commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period
during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least seven days.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as a Director are available on the
Company's website.

Constitutional Documents

During the year under review, the Company adopted
a second amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association. Detail changes can refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 23 June
2023 and the circular dated 20 July 2023. The second
amended and restated Memorandum and Articles are
available on the websites of both the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at 26/F, Park Avenue Tower, 5 Moreton Terrace,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (email: info@incon.hk).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B MRS

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
In Construction Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
In Construction Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 60 to 131, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2024, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Contract accounting estimates
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Refer to accounting policies (2)(i) & (2)(p)(i) and notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter

The Group recorded revenue from the provision of
foundation construction works in Hong Kong totalling
HK$383.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time
using output method, based on direct measurements
of the value of services delivered or surveys of work
performed and the estimated total revenue for the
contracts entered into by the Group. Contract costs are
recognised when work is performed, together with any
provisions for expected contract losses. The recognition
of revenue and profit relies on management’s estimate
of the final outcome of each contract, which involves
the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in forecasting the costs to complete a
contract, in valuing contract variations, claims and
liquidated and ascertained damages, in estimating
the amount of expected losses and in assessing the
ability of the Group to deliver services according to the
agreed timetable.

We identified contract accounting estimates as a
key audit matter because the estimation of the total
contract revenue and total costs to complete contracts
is inherently subjective and requires significant
management judgement and estimation and because
errors in the forecast of contract revenue and contract
costs could result in a material variance in the amount
of profit or loss recognised from contracts to date and,
therefore, in the current year.

BAEE T SH ()
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our audit procedures to assess contract accounting
estimates included the following:

3 assessing the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the contract revenue
recognition processes;

o discussing with management the performance
of all contracts in progress during the
year and challenging the key estimates
and assumptions adopted in the forecast
of contract revenue and contract costs,
including estimated costs to completion,
the recognition of variation orders, the
adequacy of contingency provisions and
the assessment of potential liquidated and
ascertained damages for contracts which were
behind schedule, by obtaining and assessing
information in connection the assumptions
adopted, including contract agreements and
sub-contracts, correspondence with customers
regarding contract variations and claims and
by considering historical outcomes for similar
contracts;
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Key audit matters (continued)

\ | The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
Rl = e obtaining a detailed breakdown of the total
estimated costs to completion for contracts in
progress during the year and comparing, on
a sample basis, actual costs incurred at the
reporting date and future cost estimates with
agreements, certifications or correspondence
with subcontractors and suppliers and other
documentation referred to by management
in its assessment of the estimated costs to
completion;

o challenging the assumptions and critical
judgements made by management which
impacted their estimations of the liquidated
and ascertained damages assessments by
comparing the key terms and conditions in the
assessments with contract agreements with
customers and by comparing the estimated
contract completion time with the Group's
updated progress report or correspondence
from customers;

U comparing the contract revenue recognised
for all contracts in progress during the
year with certifications from the surveyors
appointed by the customers or payment
applications from the in-house surveyor;
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B EE R (&)

Key audit matters (continued)
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
3 conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to

observe the progress of individual contracts
and discussing with site personnel the status
of each project and evaluating whether the
project progress was consistent with the
agreed timetable and the Group's financial
accounting records;

° performing a retrospective review for
contracts completed during the current
year by comparing the final outcome of the
contracts with previous estimates made for
those contracts to assess the reliability of the
management’s forecasting process; and

o inspecting a sample of contract agreements
with customers and subcontractors to
identify key terms and conditions, including
contracting parties, the contract period,
contract sum, the scope of work, the
methodology for calculating liquidated and
ascertained damages, and evaluating whether
these key terms and conditions had been
appropriately reflected in the total estimated
revenue and costs to complete in the forecast
of the outcome of the contract.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B B E (5)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
BB RE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ho Wai Ming.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

21 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
HeBRBRREMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EZ - - &=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7& o517 )

2024 2023
SEBoRmE T =4
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T Tt
Revenue [ 4 383,102 332,351
Direct costs BEHAE (376,086) (327,111)
Gross profit EF 7,016 5,240
Other revenue H il e zs 5 1,061 2,100
Administrative and other operating THREMEERY
expenses (20,642) (22,312)
Loss from operations KEER (12,565) (14,972)
Finance costs B A 6(a) (146) (352)
Loss before taxation MBiAIE B 6 (12,711) (15,324)
Income tax T3 7(a) (144) (5)
Loss and total comprehensive FABRREE
income for the year Wi (12,855) (15,329)
Loss per share (Hong Kong cents) ERE&E (G&1l)
Basic and diluted EAREE 10 (1.5) (1.8)

The notes on pages 65 to 131 form part of these financial

statements.
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2
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
N s
e BRI T
As at 31 March 2024 A —Z—MFE=H=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA 757K )
2024 2023
—BopmE ZT-=F
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T Tt
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEMRE 11 33 134
Lease receivables ek 7B & FRIE 17(a) - 65
Deferred tax assets BEREEE 7(c)ii) 241 226
274 425
Current assets hRBEE
Contract assets BHEE 15(a) 247,602 170,537
Inventories — raw materials FE—Ei 18,399 2,306
Lease receivables FE s FH & FRIE 17(a) 65 5,256
Trade and other receivables B 5 R fth FEGRIA 13 50,348 69,491
Tax recoverable A EFHE 7(0)(i) 1 13,308
Cash and bank balances BHE RIRTTER 14(a) 78,565 112,049
394,990 372,947
Current liabilities hRBER
Trade and other payables B 5 K E M fE N FRIE 16 113,892 80,626
Lease liabilities HEAE 17(b) 65 5,246
Contract liabilities BHBE 15(b) 6,727 -
Loan from a shareholder REER 18 13,000 13,000
_....133684 98872
Net current assets REBEEFRE _....261,306 274,075
Total assets less current liabilities #EERRBER 261,580 274,500
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
e B RE (E)

As at 31 March 2024 A =ZE-ME=A=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA78 7T517R )

= 2024 2023
—\ —EoME T4
i" Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T T
Non-current liability FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 170) - 65_
NET ASSETS BERE 261,580 274,435
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARR G 19
Share capital [N 19(c) 8,300 8,300
Reserves & 253,280 266,135
TOTAL EQUITY wmiER 261,580 274,435

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors FEEeR - —pENE —+—HbE

on 21 June 2024. R TR -
Lau Pak Man Cheng Wing Cheong 2B 18 =
Director Director BE EFE

The notes on pages 65 to 131 form part of these financial — 5565F 1318 MM sT#E KL ST B Rz 2
statements. — S o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z - —F=A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA T251)7R )

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KD ARBRREL ! :
Share Share  Capital Retained Total *“t”"’gqu
capital  premium reserve profits equity

Bx  B#EE AARE REEN A%
Note ~ $'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000
i3 Tt T T Tt T

At 1 April 2022 RZBE--FMA—H 8,300 75,453 (35,952) 266,863 314,664
Changes in equity for 2023: —Z-=FEREH

Loss and total comprehensive A& 18 K

income for the year 2ENEBE = = - (15329 (15329)
Dividend approved and paid in =) &JE 19(b)
respect of the previous year — FFERE - - - (24,900)  (24,900)

At 31 March 2023 and RZB-=%(=f=1+—-H
1 April 2023 K=B-=fWmA—H 8,300 75,453 (35,952) 226,634 274,435

Change in equity for 2024: —ZT-NFEEZLE

Loss and total comprehensive R EE &
income for the year ZANELE = - - (12,855)  (12,855)

At 31 March 2024 R-Z-ME=A=+-H 8,300 75453  (35952) 213,779 261,580

The notes on pages 65 to 131 form part of these financial ~ Z565Z 1318 MMl E BRIt B SRR 2
statements. —#b5 e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EZ - - &=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (A 7L 51 7R )

2024 2023
—E-mE ZT=F
—— Note $'000 $'000
bt B aE Fr T
Operating activities ReEEH
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 484 (Fi /) /FTi53 & 14(b) (47,203) 8,584
Tax refunded/(paid) BE/(BA)HE 13,138 (19,903)
Net cash used in operating activities &% EHFAAREFE (34085 (11,319
Investing activities REEH
Interest received B2 I F 2 587 509
Capital element of lease rentals received BB ERL 2 EARTE 5,256 5,026
Interest element of lease rentals received ZWHAEME 2l ETE 130 353
(Increase)/decrease in restricted SR HIRTER (M),
bank deposits A (229) 4,168
Net cash generated from REZE G
investing activities Re®® 5744 10,056
Financing activities MEEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHE EATE 14(0) (5,246) (5,024)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENAEREZFETE 14(c) (146) (347)
Dividend paid BRARE 19(b) - (24,900)
Net cash used in financing activities BEZBAARSFE ... 539 (30,271).
Net decrease in cash and BeRFASEENRL FHE
cash equivalents (33,713) (31,534)
Cash and cash equivalents at FONRER
the beginning of the year Re%EY 68,424 99,958
Cash and cash equivalents at ERHRER
the end of the year RE&ZEY 14(a) 34,711 68,424

The notes on pages 65 to 131 form part of these financial — 5565F 1318 MM T AL S B MK 2
statements. — = o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7& 7T 517K )

GENERAL INFORMATION

In Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged as a contractor in the
foundation industry in Hong Kong. The Company was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 29 September 2014
under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 April 2015.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXRSETEE(E)
(continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial (b) FEBBHERNELE

statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2024 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEARETEEEK (E)
(continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (3]

The HKICPA has issued certain new, amendments
and guidance to HKFRSs that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group.

B ERE 228
BEG ARG EME TH
BEVBWEEL BT AR
5l YRAREARS IR
BIRER

BAREMBHREERAE7
% REEA

° HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts C

FEEHERFESS (&
AIAN)  BAEE &
AIBET RIEHRES) - &

° Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting o
policies, changes in accounting estimates
and errors: Definition of Accounting

Estimates EHEETEZE
. Amendments to HKAS 12, Income . BB QT EAFE125

taxes, Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes,
International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") -

(BETA) - FIEH &
HX GHTELEEER
B E1ERFE AL B TH

FRE G ERE125%
(IERIA) -~ FIEH -
BEHERE-—XHE=H
A&

BRI AgES -
BUH & 18 2R MR
SEPEBIE T 2R

Long Service Payment (“LSP") offsetting 2
mechanism

ZEBCHAEEMERE L
CEE e -E s aiailn)
AR M AR SR B
FE - AEEAREREMA
RS AR EARERAFR]
ERHRIRE -

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have
been prepared or presented. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting
period.
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B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(d) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group

and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on

initial recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(g)), unless
the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as

held for sale).

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFEERGE

(continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 2(g)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement
or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight

(e)

M- BERRE T

Y% - BE KRS TR AR,
ZEHTE RRERESIE (B
Fi5E2(g) ©

BEIMEDE  BERRE
FREEE 2 Ba T A B PSR
HFREARRRESELHEZ
EREE - WRBEXHEZ
BEBRZERHER -

W% - BB R REZITERIA
BERORFEA T A A AR
PO SH EL R A (FORR (51 R &R

line method over their estimated useful lives as BE(E))E :
follows:

- Furniture and fixtures 5 years - RMEREES 54
— Leasehold improvements  Shorter of lease - HEWEEE KRHEEH
term and 5 years K54
(B &H
R4E)
—  Motor vehicles 31/; years — qH 3154
- Plant and machinery 5 years — BB ks 54
- Office equipment 5 years i N 54

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

i —BME - BELREES
2 Z A ERFRY AR - /Y
ZAB B ED Z AR E IR
EMEAES - M0 KE@ER
FE - —REEZAERAFH
RFHEE(WE) BEFE
1T%H -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B $R AR AL ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

(f)

0]

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for
the Group, are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on
a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leased assets (continued)

U]

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when
a lease is capitalised is initially measured
at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(g)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or
there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is
not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this
case the lease liability is remeasured based
on the revised lease payments and lease
term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(f) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each

2

ERSHBE(E)

()

HEEE (&)

(ii)

ERHBEA
HAEEREEA  E
REE AR REE —

lease is a finance lease or an operating BHERRERERL
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease EHE - W EEZE
if it transfers substantially all the risks and B EN AN

rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 2(p)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate
lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a
finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset
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arising from the head lease. If the head THE - WAREL R
lease is a short-term lease to which the HE  AEBEFRREST

Group applies the exemption described in
note 2(f)(i), then the Group classifies the
sub-lease as an operating lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B g R R aE ()
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA 7E51)7R )
2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERGFEEK(E)
(continued) e |
(g) Credit losses and impairment of (9 FEFEREERE B
assets
(i) Credit losses from financial (i) XRHEHELBRIAEREWNE
instruments and contract assets ENEEEE
The Group recognises a loss allowance AREBE LA TIEE B8

for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the
following items:

- financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
bank balances and trade and other
receivables);

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS
15 (see note 2(i)); and

- lease receivables.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where
the effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade
and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used
in the measurement of the lease
receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
\ p (continued)
P (g) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from all
possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which
the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables,
retentions receivable, lease receivables
and contract assets are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs
on these financial assets are estimated by
grouping together customers with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively
assessing them for the risk or probability
that a credit loss will occur based on
external credit ratings and the exposure of
loss when the customers default.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (ii)
the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractually due
dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on
either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due
status and credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(p)(iii) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

2

ERSHBE(E)

(9) FEBEREERE(E)

(i) Credit losses from financial () XRELBMIERESHNE
instruments and contract assets ENEEEE (H)
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income FTEFERARIEE (48)

(continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is TREELREERE

credit-impaired includes the following MEBEBEEA TR

observable events: Eha

- significant financial difficulties of the - EUYNCEDAN L
debtor; RE

- a breach of contract, such as a

- EREH ER

default or past due event; e B EIE

— it becoming probable that the - (EISATIBERESL
borrower will enter into bankruptcy ETHMIM B E
or other financial reorganisation; or 4ok

- significant changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when

- BB O
SEGREAEA
BT A
TRIE -

i BB £ A B 9 R]
HEFRKENEER
ARAREE S M (B
HER) © WHARER

the Group determines that the debtor does REBHALEEELW
not have assets or sources of income that ARIRAIELE R HIRE

could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in
the period in which the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment; and

investment in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset
is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

|

(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of
the assets in the unit (or group of
units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of

assets (continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and
impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At
the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (see
note 2(g)(i)).

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out
method and comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXRSETEE(E)
(continued)

o (h) Inventories (continued) (h #E@#
The amount of any write-down of inventories to 17 SR E = AT B3 FE 2R
net realisable value and all losses of inventories BeBNAEFEEBEYEE
are recognised as an expense in the period ITRE SRR A TR AR
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of ¥ o HAFEERERESEE
any reversal of any write-down of inventories 7 % [B1 3% A HA R ORI B =% o

is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

(i) Contract assets and contract liabilities () BHEEREHAERE

A contract asset is recognised when the Group EREEREREEAREEK
recognises revenue (see note 2(p)) before being HHER S A& TR T /Y
unconditionally entitled to the consideration RAERTRERY = (FETEE2(0))
under the payment terms set out in the contract. FrERR o & 4B ERMEE2(0)0)
Contract assets are assessed for ECLs in ISR EREEEEM
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(g)(i) BT - AR BRI AR
and are reclassified to receivables when the right BB EST O BEERIKIE
to the consideration has become unconditional (RHIEE2()) °

(see note 2())).

A contract liability is recognised when the EHBEREPEASERR
customer pays consideration before the Group MR &= A R E R R
recognises the related revenue (see note 2(p)). (RKIFE2(p) ° MAEEE &
A contract liability would also be recognised if (AR RE R FE 7 5 B HE SR AR R U
the Group has an unconditional right to receive wATER(E - BIE XA ETR
consideration before the Group recognises the SRER - EAEBEERT - 8
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding FEFEWF IR T SRR (R K
receivable would also be recognised (see note F2()) °
2())).

> For a single contract with the customer, either REZFPHE—SAMmME - F
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is BHEESFEHNBESTNUZ
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets e MEMHERNTME - THEHE
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are AHMEHEBERAENABT

not presented on a net basis. REEREZT o



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(k)

U]

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note

2(0)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(g)(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition,
trade and other payables are stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at
invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and in hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B $R AR AL ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TL7I7R)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(m) Employee benefits

(n)

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

The Group's net obligation in respect of LSP
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is
calculated by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in the
current and prior periods and discounting that
amount. The estimated amount of future benefit
is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that
have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable
profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B $R AR AL ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TL7I7R)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Group or the Company has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Group or the Company
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which,
in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(o) Provisions, contingent liabilities and

onherous contracts

(i)

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required,
or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure
required to settle a provision is expected to
be reimbursed by another party, a separate
asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the
Group has a contract under which
the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received
from the contract. Provisions for onerous
contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost
of continuing with the contract.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B $R AR AL ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXRSETEE(E)
(continued)

e (p) Revenue and other income (p) WERHAMUYA

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the provision of services or
the use by others of the Group’s assets under
leases in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee
has the right to use the asset, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and
is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Construction contract revenue

A contract with a customer is classified by
the Group as a construction contract when
the contract relates to work on real estate
assets under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction
activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction
contract can be reasonably measured,
revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the output
method based on direct measurements of
value of services delivered or surveys of
work performed.

The likelihood of the Group in suffering
contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(p) Revenue and other income

(continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Construction contract revenue
(continued)

When the outcome of the contract cannot
be reasonably measured, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the
contract are estimated to exceed the
remaining amount of the consideration
under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy
set out in note 2(o)(ii).

Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in
equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the use of the leased asset.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(q) Borrowings

(r)

Borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii)  is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the
Group's parent.

2

ERSHBE(E)
(@ &K

(r)

ERFIRARABERZ S
AEHE - F18 - IMBETIZE
R FORIABE SHRC A E

BERESRKE  BZEREESR
E (BERBRREHRE TR
AERERm e EE) ME
BRI EERMAERZEE
EVEB D ROA o ELAb S FRAN AR
HE 4 HREIERX -

BB

(1) W—RBALFTE I
o BB AL HER
LA B AR EE
AR

() &R ZE S
Z SEE

i HEAREHEX

@iy ABAEEIAE
B AANEE
EIBEKE °



REREERARA 91
2023/2024 F 5,

2
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B g R R aE ()
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)
2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERGFEEK(E)
(continued) n
(r) Related parties (continued) (n E5 (@& T
(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of 2 M—REEFETIME
the following conditions applies: Al - BIlEZ B B B
S E R
()  The entity and the Group are 0 HEBERASHE
members of the same group (which A—&EHKE R
means that each parent, subsidiary EINGIES SN
and fellow subsidiary is related to the ENIISAEE)
others). [B A EINEE R
(i) One entity is an associate or joint iy —"RERES—
venture of the other entity (or BERmEE QA
an associate or joint venture of a REEDRE (L5
member of a group of which the —ERBAKER
other entity is a member). AIEY & B B T K
=N AN
AlSEERE) -
(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the iy MREBHAR
same third party. —FBE=ZTWAE
= X
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a vy —REBRE=
third entity and the other entity is an TEENaEE
associate of the third entity. X ME—E8
BEZR=HER
= NCIIC
(vy  The entity is a post-employment W) Eﬁ%ﬁ$%§i£ﬁi
benefit plan for the benefit of RER[E A AR
employees of either the Group or an EE‘JMEEJEJF‘J“_L
entity related to the Group. HBERE ST S
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly V)  EEBROMPTIA
controlled by a person identified in 47 ) ok S R 4%
(n(1). il -
(vii) A person identified in (r)(1)(i) has (viiy (NPT A 23
significant influence over the EREEATCE
entity or is a member of the key N EZE (s

(viii)

management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group's
parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group's
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
b EEL )

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Critical accounting judgement in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgement:

Construction contracts

As explained in policy note 2(p)(i), revenue from
construction contracts is recognised over time. Such
revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted projects
are dependent on estimating the total outcome of
the contract, as well as the work done to date. The
Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs and variation orders prepared
for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared
by management on the basis of quotations from
time to time provided by the major sub-contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of
management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews
of the budgeted construction costs by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs and variation work
which may have an impact on revenue and profit
recognised to date. In addition, actual outcomes in
terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or lower
than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised
in future periods as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Revenue

Revenue represents revenue from construction
contracts earned during the year.

At 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount
of revenue expected to be recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the future
from the Group’s existing construction
contracts amounted to $691,100,000 (2023:
$427,065,000), which will be recognised when
the work is performed and which is expected to
occur over the next 1 year to 2 years (2023: over
the next 1 year to 2 years).

The Group has applied practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the
disclosure of revenue expected to be recognised
in the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting date with
performance obligation as part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or
less.

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker regards the
Group's business as a single operating segment
and reviews financial statements accordingly.
Also, the Group only engages its business in
Hong Kong. Therefore, no segment information
is presented.
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691,100,0007C (=T = =4 :
427,065,0007T) * &R #E T
TRREER  BHRREIE
2EFEMBEAE (T _=F M
ZE2ER]) o

REBEERABRASVEIRELE
BIZE155R B 121 B R B R i
HA%  BhepiRE AHE
£ MEFBLBHRTHR
TEERHEARR A—F A THEF
B4 - WERTEFTHR BAERD

ﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘ﬂ
BREAREGAEER
%ﬁ%ﬁ fEE—RENE - I

Eﬁt%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%#ﬁ% ESh - A
RREBREHETR -
it IEEEIJ"ﬁBéﬂ ©
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B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

REZEEZERAERLF 95
2023/2024 &4
4

WK o B E R (8)

() Information about major customers (0 EBEEXEEFZEH Ww
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% 7 7N 5 [ 48 IR 25 75 2R 10% A
of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: FEBMEPENT

2024 2023

ZERCDOFE —T=F

$'000 $'000

SFoT Tt

Customer A ZPA - 154,127

Customer B ZFEB 82,329 74,389

Customer C ®EC 71,711 -

Customer D ZFED - 67,595

Customer E ZBE 86,025 -

Customer F =FF 65,274 -
5 OTHER REVENUE Hitb =

2024 2023

SBomE T =4

$'000 $'000

o T

Bank interest income RITH B WA 587 509

Interest income from lease receivables J& U 8 & FXIE 2 il 2 U A 130 353

Sales of scrap materials SHE R 275 58

Government subsidies (note) B w8 A (B aE) = 1,066

Others HAth 69 114

1,061 2,100

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group successfully
applied for funding support from the Employment Support
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “Government”). The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to employers to retain their current employees
or hire more employees when the business revives. Under the
terms of the grant, the Group is required to employ a sufficient
number of employees with reference to its proposed employee
headcounts in each subsidy month.

iz : BE-T-_=F=A=+—H8 ' %x&
| B 5K T A & 78 i 5117 U RS ([
FF1) BB E IR R S THE A [{R
MEIGERFEE - HUESHAR
RiB BRI ER T BEE - iR
PR B IR R S - HIEB IR EKH
HIEET - REBRBIEK - REBEER
HAHE2 RS MM ANERERZE
THEEBRHHEAZET -
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B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6 KEAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BREAISEE NG, GIA) TS
(crediting): 15 :
2024 2023
—ECmE —T-=F
$'000 $'000
F T Tt
(a) Finance costs (a) BEXAK
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEZ
(note 14(c)) A8 (M sE14(c)) 146 352
146 352
(b) Staff costs (including (b) BIMAE
directors’ remuneration) (BREZHFMH)
Contributions to defined AT RFGRIRET 8 5R
contribution retirement plans 785 766
Salaries, wages and other HE IER
benefits H 18 A 32,162 32,736
32,947 33,502
() Other items (0 HfER
Depreciation e 101 111
Lease payments relating to leases KEEBEEEZ
of low-value assets HEZH 40 40
Lease payments relating to FRHEHEN 2
short-term leases HEEHA 1,192 1,192
Net foreign exchange loss TEERBK 1,421 1,995
Provision for/(reversal of) 25 HielEoa
impairment losses on trade RENEEZ
and other receivables and B, (FEE)
contract assets 55 (81)
Auditors’ remuneration 1% £ RN B &
— audit services - ZERE 1,080 1,270
— other services - B b AR 420 510
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B g R R aE ()
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)
7 INCOME TAX 7 FiEH
(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement (a) #HEBEBERHMEEKRERA o _—
of profit or loss and other comprehensive KT 8HiiE - VWM
income represents:
2024 2023
—EoE —T-=4F
$'000 $'000
F T
Current tax A HA R 1E
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ RNEE &R B
for the year 1S T w45 149 154
Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEFED,/(Z)IR
prior years B 10 (155)
e M.
Deferred tax BT A
Origination and reversal of temporary 2 i 2= 28 /) 2= 4 M
differences s (15) 6
144 5
Notes: B 5

(ii)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group
is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands
and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is
calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year, except for the Company
which is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered
Profits Tax rate regime.

For the Company, the first $2 million of assessable
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 has
also taken into account a reduction of 100% of the
tax payable for the year of assessment 2023-24 subject
to a maximum reduction of $3,000 granted by the
Government for each business (2023: a reduction of
100% of the tax payable for the year of assessment
2022-23 subject to a maximum reduction of $6,000).

(ii)

REFASEHEREBELEHS
((RBEZHSE]) WHRB RS
Pl AREBEFRASEHE
RERBELESNERMEH o

BARRREBERDEIARR
HIASEBEGESN - —F =@
FRBREHRIAI65% (= F
Z=F:165%) REFHEEE
ARBLAT R ©

ZR/A 7] E2,000,0005 7T 2 FE 4
F3E T 128.25% B A T 3K+ T
BT 2 BB RIZ16.5%
BNFLR o

— T MEFEBFEHEEED
ERBNRSEBR -2 ==
E-T-_NERBEEMNE
R IER%2100% (R Z R &
3,0007T) B E (ZE==F:
RIB- T _=—F3H
FEREMTERE100% (&
%% %6,0007T) ) °
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B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

7 INCOME TAX (continued) 7 Fi8% (8)

\ (b) Reconciliation between income tax expense (b) RERHRFEMNMEHEX
S and accounting loss before taxation at HERHBASTEENEERN
e applicable tax rate T:

2024 2023
—EoNE —TE-=F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Loss before taxation BRI 1R (12,711) (15,324)
Notional tax on loss before taxation — FHi Al KL EHIE (2,225) (2,666)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7~ A 13 5 52 B9 5 75 5/ 22 258 351
Tax effect of non-taxable income THRHRBRANT G E - (176)
Tax effect of current year's tax loss not RiERRFEFIBEIRH
recognised BB E 2,104 2,657
Statutory tax concession EEMBES (3) (6)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years — BEFED (%)
R BHE 10 (155)
Actual income tax expense ERERAS 144 5
() Income tax in the consolidated statement of () HEMBARRRGBFERE:
financial position represents:
2024 2023
—EoNE —T-=F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
(i) Current taxation (i) AHABimE
Provision for Hong Kong Profits FRBBFER
Tax for the year Bt 149 154
Provisional Profits Tax paid B E TS (160) (11,966)
(11) (11,812)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax BHEBEFE
recoverable relating to prior A U 5] 2 7
years MG TR AR - (1,496)
(11) (13,308)
Representing: Rk

Tax recoverable Al Y B 7 IR (11) (13,308)
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B g R R aE ()
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)
7 INCOME TAX (continued) 7 FRE® (&)
() Income tax in the consolidated statement of () HZEMBERRRFFAEHIE:
financial position represents: (continued) (#&) / /
(ii) Deferred tax assets in the consolidated (i) HETERRRANE i
statement of financial position EHBEEER
represents:
The components of deferred tax assets RERE RN R N
recognised in the consolidated statement FREY IR AT B I8 & EE AR K
of financial position and the movements o RFERNZEWT :
during the year are as follows:
Depreciation
in excess of
related
depreciation  Credit loss
allowances  allowance Total
BUEETE GEFBZ
ZIERBE SBE “an
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T T
Deferred tax arising from: BEH BT
At 1 April 2022 R-E--fWNA—H 58 174 232
Credited/(charged) to profit A (%) BRE
or loss 6 (12) (6)
At 31 March 2023 and R-ZBZ=f=Zf=t+-H
1 April 2023 K=—ZE-=£WA—-H 64 162 226
Credited to profit or loss T ABRE 7 8 15
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ME=A=1+-H 71 170 241
(d) In accordance with the accounting policy set (d) RIEMITE2N)FIEE - KEIWR
out in note 2(n), the Group has not recognised B 25T FIEE1828,740,0007T
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax (ZZF == :16,104,0007T)
loss of $28,740,000 (2023: $16,104,000) as it is WREIETIABE © HINZE
not probable that future taxable profits against BE R PR EE AR R A st AT
which the loss can be utilised will be available in MEBR EMNT TSR T B8
the entity. The tax loss arising from Hong Kong HEEN c REBEEZTIBE
operation does not expire under current tax BRIBITHBBCER T g6

legislation. HA o
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B iR R MY & (4)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

. 8 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8 EEFHM

hv_ Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section BIE AR B R A RBIE383(NE R A

i 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and AI(EHAESRENER 2 KE) R
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information E2FT R ES AT ¢

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2024
BE-E-ME-B=T-ALEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors'  and benefits scheme
fees in kind Bonuses  contributions Total
Fé 2R BRGHE
Ezhe ENilE 4 {5 @it
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
T r T T T
Executive directors HIES
Mr. Lau Pak Man At - 1,663 - - 1,663
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong BRERE - 1,663 - - 1,663
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit Bziat - 1,678 - 18 1,69
Independent non-executive directors  BIFH7ES
Mr. Leung Chi Kin ZREEE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis il 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman ETELE
(also known as lao Chi Meng) 150 - - - 150

Total oy 450 5,004 - 18 5472
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B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

8 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8 EEBHM (B J

(continued) w
Year ended 31 March 2023

HE-E-=F-B=t-AILFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' ~ and benefits scheme
fees in kind Bonuses  contributions Total
§& 2R RiRE
EZig ENA& b7l 3 &3t
$'000 §'000 §'000 $'000 §'000
T S T T R
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Lau Pak Man Atk - 1,625 126 - 1,751
Mr. Cheng Wing Cheong gRE%H - 1,625 126 - 1,751
Ms. Kwan Kit Sum Kit B20%t - 1,640 381 18 2,039
Independent non-executive directors  BIFH{TES
Mr. Leung Chi Kin PRELH 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lam Chi Hung Louis il 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yau Chi Man Norman ETEEE
(also known as ao Chi Meng) 150 - - - 150
Total @ 450 4,890 633 18 5991
Notes: B 5E
(i) No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during (i) BEEENHE_T_NEFR-_T_=
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. FEZA=FT—BILEFEREXREN
FEAEAIFTE o
(i) The Company did not have any share option scheme for the (i) REBEE_Z_NER-_T_=4=A
purchase of ordinary shares in the Company during the years =+ —BIEFE - AR B EEAE

ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. BARARE AR BRE S -
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B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

e - 9 EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST 9 IHuRSFMATIRSHE
= #’ PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR 2 [ 2 % i
H MANAGEMENT
(@) Emoluments of five highest paid (a) FURSHMALZEHMH
individuals
The five highest paid individuals of the Group RERAEE RN RSHEA
during the year include three (2023: three) o 48 EL S B A B w8 R R BR
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in MN=ZREFH (T _=F: =
note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in ) c BEAESBA LT ZH IR
respect of the remaining individuals are as AT :
follows:
2024 2023
—ECoME —=EFE_=
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Salaries, allowances and benefits e ER
in kind BEYH = 2,100 1,634
Discretionary bonuses (SRR = 173
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET BB 36 36
2,136 1,843
The emoluments of the above individuals are Lt ATF BB T 5 &

within the following bands:

2024 2023
—E-_NE —T_=F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals
A AEL
Nil to $1,000,000 = %1,000,0007T 1 2

$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1,000,0017T &
1,500,0007T 1 —
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B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

9 EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(a)

Emoluments of senior management

Other than the emoluments of the directors and
five highest paid individuals disclosed in notes
8 and 9(a), the emoluments of the remaining
senior management fell within the following
band:

REZEEZERAERLF

2023/2024 F3R

103

4

9 IHfumRsEFMATRSHRE

EE 2 % (&)

b) EREZENHS
% M 8 K 9(a) P 4 BE ) B B
RANSEHFHALT 2B

S BT ERREEENME B
TS -

2024 2023
—BomE ZT-=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AH
Nil to $1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007T 1 1
10 LOSS PER SHARE 10 BRE#E
Basic loss per share () BREXER
The calculation of basic loss per share is based BREREBRIEARR AR
on the loss attributable to equity shareholders TR E54812,855,0000T (=
of the Company of $12,855,000 (2023: loss T = =4 : [F4815,329,000
of $15,329,000) and the weighted average of 70) R B 21T (D &9 hn4E 15
830,000,000 shares in issue (2023: 830,000,000 £7830,000,000/% (==& = =
shares). 4F : 830,000,0008%) 5+ & -
Diluted loss per share (b) EBREFEHE

(b)

There were no diluted potential shares in
existence during the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023.

REBEE_Z_NER-_T_=
FZRA=+—HILFE ' HE
EIEEERR D -
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B iR R MY & (4)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 ¥% - BERR®E

Plant and Leasehold  Furniture and Motor Office
machinery  improvements fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
BER HENE BAR
HE £8 %E AE BOERRE &t
$'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 §'000
T T e Tr T A
Cost: A
A1 Apil 2022, 31 March -~ W=F==FME-H"
2003, 1 Aprl 03and31  E==E=F
March 2024 =t-A'-%3==%
RA-AR-Z-M%
=A=1-H 1,062 995 693 1,385 1,993 6,128
Accumulated depreciation:  EFH7& :
At 1 April 2022 S R 1,062 995 693 1,171 1,962 5883
Charge for the year ERREX - - - 9 19 111
At31 March 2023 WIB-ZE=A=t-0 | e 95 693 1263 191 599
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=EWA-A 1,062 995 693 1,263 1,981 5,994
Charge for the year ERREY - - - 91 10 101
At31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=t-B | 10 ¢ 9 63 135 191 6,09
Net book value: REFE:
At31 March 2024 RZF-ME=A=1-A = = = 31 2 3
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=R=1-H = = - 122 12 134

_all
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IS SRR M ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 12 RHBARIZIRE i j
The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries TREEAEEMBARZFFE - w
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless BIERHRA - TERGOERN AT
otherwise stated. AR -

Proportion of ownership interest
FrERRELA
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation issued and effective Held by Held by
Name of company and business paid-up capital interest ~ the Company ~ asubsidiary Principal activity
ARRIR BERE 158 L
ARER XY RRAGE BikR fis KEAEME IEXR
In Construction (BVI) Limited BvI 1 share of US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
ABRAHS 1R1ET 2 IR f RERK
In Construction Limited Hong Kong 14,000,000 shares 100% - 100%  Construction and
engineering

REREERAR 5 14,000000%5% BATE
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B iR R MY & (4)
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13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 13 EZRAEMEWFIR

b _ 2024 2023
i —E_NgE —E-=4F
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Trade debtors, net of loss allowance — FEUE 5 BR ZX (FOK% BB B
& F%58) 23,807 35,596
Deposits, prepayments and other e BNREMER
receivables (Notes (i) and (ii) K8 (B EG) K i) 7,102 8,030
Retentions receivable, net of loss FEWREB & (R BERERE
allowance (Note (iii)) R (B (i) 19,439 25,863
Amounts due from shareholders JiE U % 51 1B (BT =EGv))
(Note (iv)) - 2
50,348 69,491
Notes: P 5E -
(i) As at 31 March 2024, except for the balance of $3,613,000 (i) R-_ZT-_mW&EF=ZA=+—8" &%

(ii)

(iii)

(2023: $75,000) which was expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense after one year, all of the remaining
balances were expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

As at 31 March 2024, deposits of $5,158,000 (2023:
$1,330,000) were pledged to secure the issuance of

performance bonds (see note 21).
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, all the retentions receivable

were expected to be recovered within one year.

The amounts due from shareholders at 31 March 2023 were

unsecured, interest-free and recovered during the year.

(i

(i)

3,613,0007T (= & = =4 : 75,0007T)
TBEIR — R IR B KBRS - BT A 8
BEYPR —FRNREKERAFX -

R=T=m&=HF=+—A ' 5,158,000
TTiEE (Z 2 ==%:1,330,0007T) &
HERE AR AORE (RHF21) -

RoZ-—mER-—T-_=F=A=1—
B IAERBRESESHN —FAK
e

RZTB-=F=A=t+—AZEEK
RPEAEERR RERRFREE -
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B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

(a) Ageing analysis
Included in trade and other receivables are trade
debtors, based on the invoice date (net of loss
allowance) with the following ageing analysis at

13

REZEZRERD A 107
2023/2024 F3R
L 4
B 5 RHEAMmEWRRIE (B&) k]

(@) FRERDHT
B 5 M EMEKKIAT BIEE
WE SRR - ERHmEHRZ
BRAMRINRRERENR

the end of the reporting period: BT :
2024 2023
—EoNE —EFT_=4F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Within 1 month — @B 14,223 31,414
Over 1 month but within 2 months  #2:&— & A8 X @& A K 8,757 1,685
Over 2 months but within 3 months @M E S BER=EA R 827 -
Over 3 months =@EAURE = 2,497
23,807 35,596

Trade debtors are normally due within 30-90
days from the date of billing. Further details
on the Group's credit policy are set out in note
20(a).

EWE SR EEEMAEAH
#B30-90H M EIHY - RIS
BEEERR Z#E—FFEEHR
Fif5E20(@a) ©
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tl S 14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 14 BERIIBITER
“_ (a) Cash and bank balances comprise: () BRERBTEHKEE:
2024 2023
—EomE —ET_=F
$'000 $'000
T T
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHERAS 34,711 68,424
Deposits with banks RITER 43,854 43,625
Cash and bank balances in HREMBHRRAERFIRS
the consolidated statement of KR TT 4R
financial position 78,565 112,049
Less: Restricted bank balances (note) & : B &R 1745 65
) (43,854) (43,625)
Cash and cash equivalents in meERenERbPEe
the consolidated cash flow FEEEED
statement 34,711 68,424
Note: Restricted bank balances are deposits placed in banks to MiaE . RBRSIRITEREBFRRITA
secure the issuance of performance bonds (see note 21) BREZEHBORSE (RKE21)

and banking facilities. RRITRE 275K -
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B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 14 RERBITER (E)

(continued)

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation (b) BRBiAIEIBERLE (FrAH)
to cash (used in)/generated from FIBHEEZHR:
operations:

2024 2023
—ECoNE —E-=4F
Note $°000 $'000
Bt 5E F W
Operating activities REES
Loss before taxation %R AT EIE (12,711) (15,324)
Adjustments for: B3I B IEFE
Bank interest income RITFIBUA 5 (587) (509)
Interest income from FEWHE &
lease receivables RIEZ B A 5 (130) (353)
Finance costs A& KA 6(a) 146 352
Depreciation e 6(c) 101 111
Provision for/(reversal B 5 Rk E A e RIE
of) impairment losses REHNEEZRE
on trade and other 1R, (BE)
receivables and contract
assets 6(c) 55 (81)
Changes in working capital: &iE& ¢ & 8) :
Decrease in trade and B 5 KHAM
other receivables &= 19,179 6,805
(Increase)/decrease in BHEE
contract assets (3 m), (77.156) 6,024
(Increase)/decrease in 7E0Em), R
inventories (16,093) 2,566
Increase in trade and other & 5 & H fih fE (< 518
payables 30 33,266 8,993
Increase in contract EHBEEM
liabilities 6,727 =
Cash (used in)/generated &% (FTA), Fri3
from operations BHE (47,203) 8,584




110

IN CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023/2024

4

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 14 BERIBITEE (E)
(continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising (o)
from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows are, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

METHMEEAENHIER

TRAMGALRKERERE
RBHNAGEES  BRERER
FRCES - MEBPELEN
BEARESREIAKRER
EMEMBERE  IHHED
BRRERSNRSITARE
BFeRERER

Loan from a Lease
shareholder liabilities Total
BRRER HES® @t
(Note 18) (Note 17(b))
(Hizk18) (Mi&E17(0))
$'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Tr T
At 1 April 2022 RZBZ-§MA-A 1300 10330 23330
Changes from financing cash ~ BERLREEE
flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid  ZIHERS 7 A% - (5,024) (5,024)
Interest element of lease rentals paid X i1 &/ & 258 - (347) (347)
Total changes from financing cash ~ BEB & RELHAE
flows - (5,371) (5,371)
Other change: it 25 :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) 83 (FizEe@) = 352 352
Total other change AwgmewE 00 - 3% 357
At 31 March 2023 and R-BZ=£=A=t-HRK
1 April 2023 —E-=£NA-H 13,000 5311 18,311
Changes from financing cash ~ BEREREEH
flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid X fHEHS 7 A% - (5,246) (5,246)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 3 TREMS 278 - (146) (146)
Total changes from financing cash ~ BER S HEEHAE
flows - (5,392) (5,392)
Other change: Hi25
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) 8.3 (HisEe(@) - 146 146
Total other change Awgmew - M 46
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=1-H 13,000 65 13,065




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

(continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for

leases comprise the following:

14

Be RRITHERR (&)

(d HEZARSRH

RERZEZRERAA 111
2023/2024 F 1§
L 4

ENRERERAFA :

2024 2023
—BomE T =4
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Within operating cash flows REEBRERE 1,232 1,232
Within financing cash flows RBERERE 5,392 5,371
6,624 6,603
These amounts relate to the following: FIBBIELAT
2024 2023
—BoNME —T_=F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Lease rentals paid EMNHAERS 6,624 6,603
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15 CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

15 EHNEEREHNERE

The Group’s construction contracts normally
include payment schedules which require
stage payments over the construction period
once milestones are reached. These payment
schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. The Group also typically agrees
to a one year retention period for 5% to 10%
of the contract value. This amount is included
in contract assets until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to this final
payment is conditional on the Group’s work
satisfactorily passing inspection.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's
rights to consideration for work completed but
not yet billed at the year end date. The increase
in contract assets in 2024 was the result of the
increase in the provision of construction services
at the end of the year. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional.

The amount of contract assets that is expected
to be recovered after more than one year is
$11,647,000 (2023: $19,644,000), all of which
related to retentions.

The amount of revenue recognised during the
year from performance obligations satisfied (or
partially satisfied) in previous periods is $134,000
(2023: $3,619,000), mainly due to the changes
in estimate of the transaction price of certain
construction contracts.

(a) Contract assets EHNEE
2024 2023
—EDME —T-=
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Contract assets EHEE

Arising from performance under BITEESNMESE

construction contracts 247,602 170,537

AEBRERSLBESAN
HEHEEK - HEREEHRE
T BRI S RE S MK
IH o ZEMNREERG 2T
BREHEE - AEEBEN
BEE—FHNREFH  RELA
B HBEMNS%ZE10% ° R
REEZ B ZERERARAE
MBEREFMNTRES NHE
R BRERE A AIER - Bt
SEIAGHWEE  EERT
Hi#ER A I o

ANEETZEMNAEEZE
RELEBEEREARZE RS
TEMRENETR - —ZF =Y
FNENEEEINFEREBESF
4 RIRER R ERRISIE N - A
K& ER B BARER AR A R
Brig A FEURE B ARK ©

FEEHR —FRrKE/HNE HE
E S % A11,647,0007T (==
— =4 :19,644,00070) * &
HERBEHA -

FER/YPN E—HBREEEK (3
HoEK) BHETHERK
W 25 4 %8 A134,0007T (=&
— =% :3,619,0007T) ' FE
FREBTRESNHIRBE
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15 CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(continued)

REZEEZERAERLF 113
2023/2024 &4
4

15 SHEERGNAEE (E) : g

BREE .i

(b) Contract liabilities (b)
2024 2023
“ERDONE —T-=F
$'000 $'000
SPoT T
Contract liabilities EHEE
Construction contracts BEESN
— Billings in advance of performance ~ — /B4 AT 2% 6,727 -
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the ERABEEZEEBEREFPAN
advanced consideration received from customers, BRHEE - BRAWE HIRER
for which revenue is recognised based on the RHEARGEEZER -
progress of the provision of related services.
Movements in contract liabilities are explained as EHNBENEHEMIT
follows:
2024 2023
—BomE ZT-=F
$'000 $'000
o Tt
Balance at 1 April MA—B & - -
Increase in contract liabilities as a BEEEELIE B BRI
result of billing in advance of R INEI & 4
construction activities B{E 6,727 =
Balance at 31 March =A=+—Bz#&#% 6,727 -
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16  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 16 ESRHMENTIE
g \ _ 2024 2023
HW""P —EomE ~—ET-=%&
$'000 $'000
SFow T
Trade creditors JETE SRR 59,884 52,236
Provision for construction works Ti2TEE &E
(note (i) (P 3EG)) 19,395 10,498
Other payables and accruals HiER I RETER 34,613 17,892
113,892 80,626
Note B
(i) Provision for construction works (i) IREERE
$'000
T
At 1 April 2023 R-E-—=FmA—H 10,498
Additional provisions made 3 0B s 9,172
Provision utilised BEREE (275)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-WE=A=+—8H 19,395
(a) Ageing analysis (a) FREDHT
Included in trade and other payables are trade FTAB S RHEMERKIBEN A
creditors, based on the invoice date, with the ERE SRR REREHRE
following ageing analysis at the end of the BZEAMZERESTAT
reporting period:
2024 2023
—ECNME —ZT-=F
$'000 $'000
T T
Within 1 month —EAA 3,049 17,754
Over 1 month but within 2 months  #8:&—1{& A B AR & A A 49,612 19,827
Over 2 months but within 3 months #:@RIE A ER=1E AR 2,010 10,841
Over 3 months =@AE 5,213 3,814

59,884 52,236
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17 LEASES 17 ME il
(a) Lease receivables (a) EWHERE w
At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had REEZNER-T-=F=
lease receivables as follows: A=+—8  AEEHESWOT
JE Ye FE & F0E
2024 2023
ZECQE “E-cF
Present value Present value

of the minimum  Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments

BEAE BiEAE RERE SERE

fAREE fisag DEEHE g

§'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

r n T S
Within 1 year e s 6 5% 536
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —¥{ERER - -

65 66 5321 5,452

Less: total uneamed finance Bl : ARBREANALEE
income (1) (131)

Present value of lease receivables EMAEFAZEE 65 5321
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17 LEASES (continued) 17 HE(E)
. \ ‘ (b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
| e At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had RIZZNMFR-T_=F=
lease liabilities as follows: R=+—8H ' xX&BHBHOT
HEBE
2024 2023
ka1 ]:3 kSt
Present value Present value
of the minimum ~ Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments  lease payments lease payments lease payments
ERE EHE RERE RERE
RBE BEEL 5RE R
$'000 §'000 $'000 $'000
n n n S
Within 1 year —£R 65 66 5,246 5392
After 1 year butwithin 2years — —$%BRFH - -
65 5311 5,458
Less: total future interest expenses 5, : Aa|8 Fx 2% (1) (147)
Present value of lease liabllities  EEEEB(E 65 5,311

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had one (2023:
three) hire purchase agreement with a bank with
term of five years for the hire of 3 (2023: 27)
sets of machinery which were pledged as security
under the agreement. In relation to these sets
of machinery, the Group has entered into lease
agreements with sub-contractor for the same
lease period and at a monthly rental that coincide
with the terms of and the amount of monthly
hire rent payable under the corresponding hire
purchase agreements that cover the particular
machinery in the current and prior years.

18 LOAN FROM A SHAREHOLDER

The loan from a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable by serving two months’ notice.

R-E-WE=A=A=+—
B AEBEHE—FRTE 5
(ZB-=%F: =) AHAF
KIFEBE 17 3% - LATE 3SR (=
T Q78R 2 B
HEBRAR I p s B 4R (B A4
Mo MRSEHRENS - AEH
BB D EER Y EHEH
NHEEW®  NFRAEFES
A< IR BTk 2 e
TR B2 ER T AR
HeeE -

18 IRREX

BRERZEEM 2B REEA
REMIEABA
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19 CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(@) Movement in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the
Group's consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

REZEEZERAERLF 117

4

2023/2024 F3R

BARK#E

(@) EHEARBIZBH
AEEGRAEESERTH
%m&%imﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁé
HEEBE - ARTRENR
R (A ARSI 2 3

Details of the Company’s individual components BN T :
of equity between the beginning and the end of
the year are set out below:
The Company
KAF
Share Share Retained
capital premium profits Total
IR 2 % 63 5 1B R % st
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000
T T T F
Balance at 1 April R=-Z=-=%
2022 B—B2#&R 8,300 75,453 53,726 137,479
Profit and total FRHFRER
comprehensive W B 58
income for the year - - 26,413 26,413
Dividend approved &k MR T
and paid in respect  EEERE
of the previous year - - (24,900) (24,900)
Balance at R-BZ=F
31 March 2023 ZA=t—-H2
iR 8,300 75,453 55,239 138,992
Balance at R-ZB-=F
1 April 2023 A—Bz&tk 8,300 75,453 55,239 138,992
Profit and total FNwEMNEEE
comprehensive W 42 8
income for the year - - 1,404 1,404
Balance at 31 March R=Z=—NF
2024 ZA=t—-H2
2903 8,300 75,453 56,643 140,396
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19 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 19
(b) Dividend (b)
Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

BARK f#f ()

38

L EMBFREM I N FAIR
RV ERBN AR B ACR A
FETAE

The board of directors has resolved not to declare
any final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: Nil).

2024 2023
—EoNE 2=
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Final dividend in respect of the LEUHBEE 2 KR E
previous financial year, approved TEBE R & AR A
and paid during the year, of nil BREW(ZZE==
cents (2023: 3 cents) per share £ =1l) = 24,900

BEEREMN T _NF=A
=+ —BFEREMKE (=
T_—F ) o

(c) Share capital (0 BX
The Company
NG|
2024 2023
ZEBImE —To=f
No. of shares Amount  No. of shares Amount
RAEE &8 B 28
$'000 $'000
Tr T
Authorised - ordinary ~ £E-SR00TZEER
shares of $0.01 each:
At 1 Apriland 31 March ~ ABA-BR=ZA=T—H 2,000,000,000 20,000 2,000,000,000 20,000
Ordinary shares, issued Z&ER EZTRAR:
and fully paid:
At 1 Apriland 31 March ~ ABA-BR=A=t-H 830,000,000 8,300 830,000,000 8,300

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled
to receive dividends as declared from time to
time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the Company’'s
residual assets.

TREBFA NG RKE T
FIRZBE - WHRERRR
BRERRE EASRB MK —
T MAEBERRARRZF
AR = BZ AR -
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19 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(e)

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and may be applied by the Company
subject to the provisions, if any, of its
memorandum and articles of association in
paying distributions or dividends to equity
shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be
paid to the equity shareholders out
of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to
be paid, the Company will be able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve was created as a result
of the reorganisation to rationalise the
Group structure in preparation for the
listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of
the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to equity shareholders of the Company, as
calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association, was
$132,096,000 (2023: $130,692,000). After the
end of the reporting period the directors did not
propose any final dividend (2023: $nil).

19

REZEEZERAERLF

2023/2024 F3R

119

4
B K f#E (GE)
(d) REEOEERE
0O BRHRE

(e)

BaEREAEEHS
REVERE  ARER
I 42 25 AR S AN 0 R =
BERAUREREME
2 KA K 4RI A f5R 3C
(A) AN EE

BRIFRBEZE N DK
FREE BRARFH
AXNRBEE X%
e ER - BRI E
PR 08 B BR A A 2
BRI DRSS

(i) BEXRHE
RN EARERARE
BRI TIR B X P LT 4
EASBEARE - MR
B -

REEATDIREE

R-ZZE-_WF=HF=+—H "
AR AR F AR A
=R EBE (RERF
SHERRVEUAR AR A
BERAARMAUGE) B
132,096,0007C (=T = =4 :
130,692,0007T) ° 1A ¥R & &
K EZVEERENE
fAIRPHRE(ZE—=F &

It ©
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19 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(f)

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern in order to fund
its construction business, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholder returns
that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Government requires contractors on the
list of approved contractors for public works
(the “List”) to maintain such minimum working
capital as the Government may from time to time
determine (the “Required Minimum Working
Capital”). A subsidiary of the Company is subject
to the Required Minimum Working Capital as the
subsidiary is a contractor on the List. Except for
this, neither the Company nor of its subsidiaries
are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

19

BARK f#f ()
() EBEXEH

AEEEREANERBRE
REREEIZFEEE LS
BLENRL)  AREBER
BRE  AERRERER - [
FRERMES A AR
o WHRRENERIEE LA
EE R

AR LB K E Bima Mg R
HEARRERE  L#EFRRERE
E# (B RAERE BN AR
=) BRRESKANES R
RIEZ FIH)F & ARIREE
RS R B B AN IE (R

B &R A5R R AR T
R (&) e ARs
MR RIT T EE RN
RELEER((HBEREE
BEAK]) - ARE—RMER
AXEERELEELANR
R RERZMEAR AR
EHEGER © BRULPASN - AR
B N E B A RIS RSN ER3E
MERRENRR
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20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to bank deposits, trade receivables, retentions
receivable, lease receivables and contract assets.
The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis.

Cash is deposited with financial institutions with
sound credit ratings and the Group has exposure
limit to any single financial institution. Given
their high credit ratings, management does not
expect any of these financial institutions and
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

Trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets

In respect of trade receivables, retentions
receivable, lease receivables and contract assets,
individual credit evaluations are performed as
part of the acceptance procedures for new
construction contracts. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30-90 days from
the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

20

REZEEZERAERLF

4
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BREBEEREMTAN

DRE

AEEEEEHBRATEE -
RBASRFRAR - AEEET
ZEAREAEEANTEREA
o ) B 5 L O TR R R A
T

(a)

FERME

AEENEERBREERE
RITESR - BREBE SRR - &
WiREE - BREERERS
HEE - EREEEHBEER
R URHEEEZEEER

ReFERDERNRIFEEF
RH T EE - MAKE R
F-oRBERERE - EN
ZECRBBEASERN
& EREBITEMZEER
BWELREF S TEEITAEE

ERBEARREHEE
EWE PR ERE
T BUEHAEFBERANEE
mE  AEESETEEE
AHZIE R RS RN
—ED o WEFRETFREF
BRI HIRIARN RDER S 3R
RN REED - B ERPH)
BEEMERPREMER
BEIRIRER © BUE SR
R ERE HHI#5130-90H A E|
Hl o KEE—RAGRAFTFK
BUE A o
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20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
\ B AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
R INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has significant concentration of credit risk in a
few customers. In view of their credit standing,
good payment record and long established
relationships with the Group, management
does not consider the Group’s credit risk to
be significant. At 31 March 2024, 7% (2023:
24%) and 31% (2023: 43%) of the total
trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets was due from the
Group's largest customer and the Group's five
largest customers respectively.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit rating for
its customers. Trade receivables, retentions
receivable and contract assets are grouped into
three internal credit rating buckets (namely: low
risk, medium risk and high risk) based on shared
credit risk characteristics by references to past
default experience and current past due exposure
of the debtors, and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit
risk and ECLs for trade receivables, retentions
receivable and contract assets which are assessed
individually as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

20 BIERREEREMIAN
DB (5&)

(a)

FERR (&)

JEWE ZRE - FEWIR B %
JEWHHE B R & #IEE ()
REIMEHR - AEEHRIHE
FPEEXREESHERE - ER
FENEEFNR - RIENG
BEREAREEDE KW
R BEEERRAEEHAR
MEERBITTEKXN - R=F
—WFE=A=1+—8 ‘K=
BN - BURIRES - EKFE
EREREGHNEEBETD
B7% (ZE==% :24%) &
31% (ZTE-=4 :43%) )}
FEUUAS & B 2 K 5 P 5018 K
WAREBRAEFFIE o

EEASEEERBREEN—
o AEEHEXFERANR
EMEERTR - [EWE SRR
FUREBERENEETIZE
B ARBEENIFR R E A
HY380 HA R B A I & 75 A B & Bl
B 75 AR O 0 AT B9 2 = R B A
o A= EABEEFTRAE
A (BME R ~ & R &= R
%) o NRIBRABAEERSE
BRI KR ERE Z R - B
WIREBB & KA L EENTERR
& REEEIENER - HTTR
—ECNFER-E=F=H
=+ —BHETEYE -
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20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets (continued)

RERZEZRERAA 123
2023/2024 &4
4

20 BIEEREERERIARN
NAEE)

(@) FERREE

EWE R ERRE T
ERHEFRREVIEE (B)

At 31 March 2024
R=-ZE-_MFE=A=+-—H

Gross Impairment

Average loss carrying loss
rate amount allowance
FIgE AR IREAE RESERE
% $'000 $'000
% T T
Internal credit rating A EE TR
Low risk 1K [ Fax 0.14 219,761 308
Medium risk G ENE 1.00 72,116 721
291,877 1,029
At 31 March 2023
RZZE_=F=RA=+—H
Gross Impairment
Average loss carrying loss
rate amount allowance
TR R K EmAEsE REBEEE
% $'000 $'000
% FT T
Internal credit rating A EE TR
Low risk 1K= B2 0.14 156,663 219
Medium risk R [ B2 0.99 76,307 755

232,970 974
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20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, retentions receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of trade receivables, retentions
receivable and contract assets and study of
other corporates’ default and recovery data, and
are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
Such forward-looking information is used by
management of the Group to assess the current
condition and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

Movements in the loss allowance account in
respect of trade receivables, retentions receivable
and contract assets during the years ended 31

20 BEREEREMIEN

D fE (&)

(a)

FERR (&)

EWE G ERRE T
JERTEES R R EHIEE ()
EERHRARIREBEENE 28R
K BRREERENEER
AERANBERRRBOER
HEM P RE D RO EIER
remhat - WHBARNHB
ZRRAHES 1 AN S R IE
HERHEL A% - AEEER
EERZEREEE TR
N AN B R OR TR A
HIAREERRNEE - A%
g2 EEMEM D EIRRL -
VAREGRYS TE B ARIIRRR A #L
EEH -

REE-ZT-_NFER-T ==
E=ZA=t+—HIFERN k&
WE SRR - ERREBERE

March 2024 and 2023 are as follows: HEERREREREZE
NN
2024 2023
—ECME —T-=F
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Balance as at 1 April R A—BZ &% 974 1,055
Impairment loss provided/ E SRR, (B )
(reversed) 55 (81)
Balance as at 31 March R=A=+—Bz#&% 1,029 974
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20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 20 MEEBEERERTAN
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ~REGE)

INSTRUMENTS (continued) S
(b) Liquidity risk (b) REBELRAR

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the raising of loans to cover the
expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed
funding lines from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following table details the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which
are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay:

REEETHERHE AR
HEAGMRSEERAR &
REKEFEHRHAAESSE
Ko ANERE 2 R ETE T
B RBEHRBESTE - A
REETEREZHZIER A
RN R IR SRR A
TR BB RAERE
BE - HmeRBRREZ

TRAMASESBRAERR
EHRNBTEOZEE - 7Y
EREHNARTRRAGR (B
ERE O RFEOF SN
o RES o RIERRE
RE BRI R ) RAKE A%
EREENKFEH:

At 31 March 2024
R-E-ME=A=1-A
Total More than ~ More than
contractual 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted  Within 1 year less than less than
amount  cashflow oron demand 2 years 5 years
ek -Frg BE-F RENML
BEE RERELR BEX  BORWE EONIE
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
T T T T T
Trade and other payables BAREMERTE
(excluding accruals) (R ERN 69,081 69,081 69,081 = -
Lease liabilities 2Rk 65 66 66 - -
Loan from a shareholder RRER 13,000 13,000 13,000 - -
82,146 82,147 82,147 = .




IN CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023/2024

126

4
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

BERBEEREMTIAN

D E (&)

20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 20
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REELEE (E)
At 31 March 2023
WZBZ=%=f=1-H
Total More than
contractual More than 2 years but
Camying ~ undiscounted ~ Within 1 year 1 year but less less than
amount cashflow orondemand  than 2 years 5 years
feh  —Ehm BAF RENL
BEE AIRRLR REX  BIREE  BIRDE
$'000 §'000 §'000 $'000 §'000
T S T T T
Trade and other payables BSREMERFE
(excluding accruals) (Bt ERS) 60,457 60457 60457 - -
Lease liabilities RERE 5311 5,458 5,392 66 -
Loan from a shareholder RREH 13,000 13,000 13,000 = =
78768 78915 78,849 66 -
(c) Interest rate risk (0 FIEE

The Group does not have any significant
exposure to interest rate risk.

AEEEEEAFERMR -



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B RS R AR T EE ()
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20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk

(e)

The Group’s functional currency is Hong Kong
dollars. At 31 March 2024, the Group's currency
risk is primarily attributable to deposits with
banks of $24,202,000 (2023: $25,188,000)
denominated in the Renminbi (“RMB").
Assuming that the RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 10% at 31 March 2024 (2023:
10%) and the changes had been applied to
the Group’s exposure to currency risk for those
deposits at that date, with other variables held
constant, the Group’s loss after tax would have
decreased/increased and total equity would
have increased/decreased by approximately
$2,420,000 (2023: $2,103,000).

The exposure to currency risk as referred to
above represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in exchange rate over
the period until next annual reporting date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis as 2023.

Fair values measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 March 2024 and 2023.

REZEEZERAERLF

4
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(d)

(e)

D fE (&)

SNEE B B
AEBMIEEE BB
RZE-_WF=ZA=+—
B A&EEHNEERKREE
FERARAARE (TARE])
HI{E 89 5 77 17 324,202,000
7T (=& = =% : 25,188,000
JC) c BN —_ZE_MFE=A
Zt+—BAREFHE RE
10% (ZZEE=-=4% :10%) B
ZEEHENZBEARASE
@&%ﬁ X FIT T B B & R

C MEMEERFE - A
ZISE@Eﬁfﬁﬁméﬁéﬂaﬂmw\
N K HE RS B RS s
WA #)2,420,0007T (=
— =4 :2,103,0007T) °

Xt e R EE R E M
HEEET—EFERSH
HIFEARRE R 2 SR E RS
B o WoMEER_T— =4
I

DMREFE
R-FE_OFR—_F_=F=
A=1+—R  AKEREHEE
B ATHEN EREENMA
EHRREERFEEN DA EE
BEXRRA -

=l ﬂ_;‘ﬁ"
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B $R AR AL ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TL7I7R)

21

22

23

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2024, the Group had contingent liabilities
in respect of performance bonds to guarantee for
the due and proper performance of the obligations
undertaken by the Group’s subsidiary for projects
amounting to $112,229,000 (2023: $60,955,000) in its
ordinary course of business. The performance bonds are
expected to be released in accordance with the terms
of the respective construction contracts.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLAN

In compliance with the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), employees of the Group in Hong
Kong are required to participate in the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme of the Group (the “MPF
Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
plan administered by an independent corporate trustee.
Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and the
employees are required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of $30,000. The Group's contributions under the
above-mentioned defined contribution retirement plan
are expensed as incurred and no contributions have
been forfeited as all contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group entered into the following material
related party transaction during the year:

21

22

23

HAREE
R-ZBE_NMFE=A=+—H ' &
SERERREGBRERRARE
EffEBARETREBEBE 2EX
MELERNBENRBE ZHXAE
& £112,229,0007t (=T = =4 :
60,955,0007T) ° FE AR TE 2SR
BREES NI ER

REMFRNKET S

BIEE B LN 4855 (34 414 AT
SETEHED) - AEBERENES
A IASE R HERTESEE
([afEestEl]) - BFESE A—
EEBLCETTEATENRE MR
HetEl o RIEREEETE A&
MEE S BHBERESRBIRARN
5%msafEE s IR EEAEH
I AH) £ R A30,0007T © AN B [
FREHRFHE ZHEREEES
o ARY  RERAR®BES
sHEIE RSB - B#UR A T
R UK -

ERBEBARS

() BREMBHmEREAMEDDFRER
R 5 RN - REBRAF
BRISLA TERBEH XS -

2024 2023
—EomFE —T-=F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Rental expenses paid to a related B F—RHEBARZ
company e 1,192 1,192
Note: The directors of the Company are of opinion that the ek RRABEERALARZ IR

above transaction was entered into in the normal course

of business.

B EXBBETREIL
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B g R R aE ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA ITTLFI7R)

23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 23 BEABEEBRAIRS (8)
TRANSACTIONS (continued) :
(b)  Remuneration of key management personnel, by FZBEBRAEHFTMH (B B |

including amounts paid to the directors as ENEFN ) 1M 8K
disclosed in note 8 and senior management as B MR EEEH AR
disclosed in note 9, is as follows: Moo FRLn T ¢
2024 2023
—EoNE —E-=4F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Short-term employee benefits REESRET 6,246 6,808
Post-employment benefits il 36 36
6,282 6,844
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” MR ATE IR (R
(see note 6(b)). Bi5E6(b)) ©
The related party transactions in respect of rental HE N T —EEEARNES
expenses paid to a related company and the A RARREEREZITH
remuneration of directors and chief executive of ABE BB R 5 R 5%
the Company constitute connected transactions B ETRAIE14AZE R ER S
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. ERG o AT - ZERFER
However, these transactions are exempt from RESF EMARREI4AZIE T
reporting, announcement and independent R - DNE MBI RRALER
shareholders’ approval requirements under T °
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions in respect of the HANREEZERAB (B
remuneration of key management personnel REZITBAERIN FHEE
(other than directors and chief executive) of the M ARSI T BN T
Company do not fall under the definition of HABVUAZEATHNEERS
connected transactions or continuing connected RFBEEERS -
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

() The related party transactions in respect of the (©  H25 B R MY 5E13 18T FE
amounts due from shareholders and loan from WHRERRIBER KRR E KE M
a shareholder as set out in notes 13 and 18 HI A 7 22 5 Rk - Th A5 Bl
respectively constitute connected transactions FUAERTHNAER S - A
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. M- ZEXSHEREET EH
However, these transactions are exempt from HAIFI4AZTETHR - A%
reporting, announcement and independent NIBIRRALAERRTE ©

shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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B RS SRR BT EE (AR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA L5 7R )

\ 24 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 24 REEBE BB RT
. \ i FINANCIAL POSITION
H"‘ 2024 2023
—E-NE —T_-_=F
Note $'000 $'000
M & T T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RB AR Z&E 12 —* —*
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FELU i B A FZIE 140,436 137,836
140,436 137,836
Current assets REEE
Tax recoverable Al Y (o] 7 IE 11 150
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTAER 369 1,483
380 1,633
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals A 8T FRIE R
T EA 420 477
.. M0 477 _
Net current (liabilities)/ RE (AR EEZE
assets @40 . 1,156
NET ASSETS BEEFRE 140,396 138,992
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXR#E 19(a)
Share capital & 19(c) 8,300 8,300
Reserves & 132,096 130,692
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 140,396 138,992

& Represents $8 * #H87T
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B RS R AR T EE ()
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25 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 March 2024 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

25

REZEEZERAERLF

4
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RBEZE-_Z_DNF=A
=t+—HIEFECEMEN
REMBMERT ~ FHETER R
RENTREEE

HEEAYBHRETEBR  BEFZ
AR ASE BEMA— RYF LS
FER - REE-T_NNF=A
=t+—HBLEFERARERBILER
I EVHEIRR RN - ZERREB
TN TRl AL AR A o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

R B 2%
FRmmNE T HEEXR

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
BB ENENR (BRIAR) - HBEHEXZZ5 -
HF B (&7 28 73 75 B) 5 I i B)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

Non- current liabilities with covenants
BRI EREIE (ERIA) - HHHEXZZ5) -
o #f%?// IR FE B B

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases:
Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

B S 2R 165k (BRI AR) ¢
E#RBEMHERE

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7,

1 January 2024

—E-mFE—-H—H

1 January 2024

—E-pmFE—H—H

1 January 2024

—ZE_pmE-—H—H

1 January 2024

Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements

BRE G ERFTHR -
57fi§Iﬁ BE REBFHEZH

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates:

Lack of exchangeability
BEEERENR SEEFEHZE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

B wBXREENHHEERETR

= AR

—ZEpmFE—H—H

1 January 2025

“E_h¥—H—H
& B IEfE AT 4 5 L 3R M IR ER 4%

HRENERYE  BEREER
%%%E%ETKT L8R A M 7%
REBRERZE




132 IN CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023/2024

4

Financial Summary
B REE

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA7E 7T 7R )

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the AEBSAAANREENEEREENR
Group for the last five financial years is as follows: aEMENT :

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+-HILEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-EE —E-—F —EBE--F —TE-=F ZE_NF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Tr T T
RESULTS £
Revenue Wiz 393,892 378,783 462,246 332,351 383,102
Profit/(loss) before taxation — BRFiATEFI/
(E518) 4,337 33,716 74,346 (15,324) (12,711)
Income tax FTig®t (580) (5,013) (12,154) (5) (144)
Profit/(loss) and total FERER,/
comprehensive income (B8 R2A
for the year Wamtazs 3,757 28,703 62,192 (15,329) (12,855)
Dividend per share FRKRE (ET)
(Hong Kong dollars) - - 0.06 - =
At 31 March
R=ZA=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-FTF T —FT-—F -—FE-=-F Z—BE-NF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr T T
-. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ~ ¥ER A&
. ! Total assets BEE 389,879 362,516 416,243 373,372 395,264
Total liabilities BafE (141,210) (85,144) (101,579) (98,937)  (133,684)
Net assets EESE 248,669 277,372 314,664 274,435 261,580
Net assets per share FREEFE
(Hong Kong dollars) (%) 0.30 0.33 0.38 0.33 0.32

This report is published in both English and Chinese A& AR X MERE S NS o FEMTEX
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between the  B2R)EHEA FIF/EIRER © AE XA -
Chinese and English versions, the English version shall prevail.
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